# **Essential Key Performance Indicators** for School Nutrition Success





Instructor's Manual

# Essential Key Performance Indicators for School Nutrition Success

**Instructor's Manual** 

PROJECT COORDINATOR Pat Richardson, MEd

**EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR** Aleshia Hall-Campbell, PhD, MPH



Key Area 3: Administration USDA Professional Standards Code: 3340

2019

### **Institute of Child Nutrition**

The University of Mississippi

The Institute of Child Nutrition was authorized by Congress in 1989 and established in 1990 at the University of Mississippi in Oxford and is operated in collaboration with The University of Southern Mississippi in Hattiesburg. The Institute operates under a grant agreement with the United States Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service.

### PURPOSE

Improve the operation of child nutrition programs through research, education and training, and information dissemination.

### VISION

Lead the nation in providing research, education, and resources to promote excellence in child nutrition programs.

### MISSION

Provide relevant research-based information and services that advance the continuous improvement of child nutrition programs.

This project has been funded at least in part with Federal funds from the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service through an agreement with the Institute of Child Nutrition at the University of Mississippi. The contents of this publication do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the U.S. Department of Agriculture, nor does mention of trade names, commercial products, or organizations imply endorsement by the U.S. government.

The University of Mississippi is an EEO/AA/Title VI/Title IX/Section 504/ADA/ADEA Employer.

In accordance with Federal law and U.S. Department of Agriculture policy, this institution is prohibited from discriminating on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability.

To file a complaint of discrimination, write USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights; Room 326-W, Whitten Building, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20250-9410 or call (202) 720-5964 (voice and TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

© 2019, Institute of Child Nutrition, The University of Mississippi, School of Applied Sciences

Except as provided below, you may freely use the text and information contained in this document for non-profit or educational use with no cost to the participant for the training providing the following credit is included. These materials may not be incorporated into other websites or textbooks and may not be sold.

Suggested Reference Citation:

Institute of Child Nutrition. (2019). Essential key performance indicators for school nutrition success. University, MS: Author.

The photographs and images in this document may be owned by third parties and used by the University of Mississippi under a licensing agreement. The University cannot, therefore, grant permission to use these images.

For more information, please contact helpdesk@theicn.org.

# **Table of Contents**

Background Information
Functional Areas and Competencies
Professional Standards
Training Objectives
Ground Rules
Training-at-a-Glance.
Preparation Checklist
Introduction
Lesson 1: Meal Equivalents (MEQ)
Lesson 2: Average Daily Participation (ADP)
Lesson 3: Revenues
Lesson 4: Expenditures
Lesson 5: Revenue Per Meal Equivalent
Lesson 6: Cost Per Meal Equivalent
Lesson 7: Cost as a Percentage of Revenue
Lesson 8: Break-Even Point (BEP)
Lesson 9: Inventory Turnover Rate
Lesson 10: Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH)
Lesson 11: Staff Turnover Rate
Lesson 12: Absenteeism Rate
ABC School District Case Study
Developing SMART Goals and an Action Plan
Developing Goals Based on the Key Performance Indicators
SMART Goals and Action Plan Templates
Wrap-Up
References

### **Background Information**

**Instructor's Note:** The purpose of the background information section is to help you become familiar with the context of the training. It is not a part of the training detail.

Welcome to the Institute of Child Nutrition's (ICN) *Essential Key Performance Indicators for School Nutrition Success*. The purpose of this training is to provide school nutrition professionals with an easy-to-use reference for identifying and applying the key performance indicators (KPIs) that focus on the most critical aspects of a nutrition program's performance to achieve success.

*Essential Key Performance Indicators for School Nutrition Success* is a four-hour training. At the end of the training is a case study that will give the participants an opportunity to practice what they have learned in the training.

The suggested audience for this training is school nutrition directors, managers, and State agency personnel.

Performance measurement is an essential managerial function. It exposes the gaps between current and desired performance, and provides evidence that progress has been made toward closing the gaps. These measures provide a numbers-oriented approach to specific areas of emphasis, and assess results in an objective manner. Key performance indicators allow users to set standards of expectation, identify problem areas, and measure progress in correcting these problems. KPIs can be used to identify where resources should be invested to have the most positive impact, such as equipment or labor. They can be used to track the progress of major initiatives, for example, breakfast in the classroom, salad bars, and farm to school, on participation, cost, and revenue.

There are 12 key performance indicators grouped into three general areas.

Meal Counts and Participation

- 1. Meal Equivalents (MEQ)
- 2. Average Daily Participation (ADP)

Financial and Inventory Management

- 3. Revenues
- 4. Expenditures
- 5. Revenue Per Meal Equivalent
- 6. Cost Per Meal Equivalent
- 7. Cost as a Percentage of Revenue
- 8. Break-Even Point (BEP)
- 9. Inventory Turnover Rate

Productivity and Labor

- 10. Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH)
- 11. Staff Turnover Rate
- 12. Absenteeism Rate

Adult learners utilize a variety of learning styles. This course offers opportunities for the participant to benefit from learning styles that suit their needs. The materials include a workbook, activities, handouts, and PowerPoint slides. Participants should be encouraged to utilize methods that will allow them to understand and recall financial management concepts and principles.

The companion Participant's Workbook contains helpful information, activities, and handouts.

When administering this training, strive to follow the script and model the program provided in this Instructor's Manual. This script features the following prompts for transitioning between topics, slides, activities, and other aspects of this training:

**SAY:** What the instructor is to say to participants. This content teaches the learning objectives.

- **ASK:** This prompt is used when the instructor should ask the participants a question. If the question warrants feedback, it will be followed by the FEEDBACK prompt.
- **FEEDBACK:** This prompt is used to ensure certain elements are covered in discussions. This may include possible answers for instructors to give.
- **DO:** This prompt is used to explain what the instructor/participants are to do. It may be used to lead into activities, do demonstrations, show videos, or any other action the instructor would need to know to do.
- **SHOW SLIDE:** This prompt is used for showing slides. Each slide has its own unique title. All content in the slide presentation should be discussed in the Instructor's Manual using the "DO," "ASK," or "SAY" commands.

**PRE-/POST-ASSESSMENTS:** This training includes a pre- and post-assessment that will be administered at the beginning and at the end of the training.

# Functional Area and Competencies for School Nutrition Directors

### **Functional Area 2: Financial Management**

**Competency 2.1:** Develops financial management guidelines that support school nutrition program operational goals and comply with regulations.

### **Knowledge Statements:**

- Knows basic principles of accounting and the application of those principles.
- Knows the impact of changing demographics and enrollment trends on the school nutrition program budget.

**Competency 2.2:** Establishes cost control goals to effectively manage the school nutrition program.

### **Knowledge Statements:**

- Knows the importance of appropriate staffing and scheduling to control labor cost.
- Knows the role of the menu in controlling costs.

**Source:** Institute of Child Nutrition. (2009). *Competencies, knowledge, and skills for district-level school nutrition professionals in the 21st century.* University, MS: Author.

# Functional Area and Competencies for School Nutrition Managers

### Functional Area 7: Financial Management and Accountability

**Competency 7.1:** Ensures compliance with Federal, State, and local regulations, policies, and procedures for financial accountability in the school nutrition program.

### Knowledge Statements:

- Knows financial elements of the school nutrition program (i.e., average daily participation [ADP] and food costs).
- Understands school nutrition program financial goals and objectives.

**Competency 7.4:** Organizes effective business operations to ensure all records and management techniques are maintained in accordance to Federal, State, and local regulations and policies.

### **Knowledge Statements:**

- Knows procedures for documenting and evaluating amounts of food planned, prepared, and served.
- Knows the importance of operating a financially sound program.
- Knows school nutrition program financial goals and objectives.

**Competency 7.5:** Follows cost controls for the school nutrition program.

### **Knowledge Statements:**

- Knows the importance of meal costs on the financial status of the school nutrition program.
- Knows cost-effective techniques relevant to school nutrition operations.
- · Knows the financial impact of cost saving production techniques.
- Knows how to calculate meals per labor hour and the significance of the results.

**Source:** Institute of Child Nutrition. (2009). *Competencies, knowledge, and skills for district-level school nutrition professionals in the 21st century.* University, MS: Author.

### **Professional Standards**

Financial Management – 3300

Employee will be able to manage procedures and records for compliance with Resource Management with efficiency and accuracy in accordance with all Federal, State, and local regulations, as well as the Administrative Review.

3340 – Financial Analysis

Key Area: 3 Administration

# **Training Objectives**

At the end of the training, participants will be able to accomplish the following objectives:

### Lesson 1: Meal Equivalents (MEQ)

 Calculate meal equivalents (MEQ) and apply the information to measure the performance of school nutrition programs.

### Lesson 2: Average Daily Participation (ADP)

• Calculate average daily participation (ADP) and apply the information for forecasting and making decisions pertaining to labor, food purchasing, and menu planning.

### Lesson 3: Revenues

• Interpret and analyze revenues on a monthly report to monitor trends of the current period, the previous period, and year-to-date of the school nutrition program.

### Lesson 4: Expenditures

• Interpret and analyze expenditures on a monthly report to monitor and identify monthly and annual trends.

#### Lesson 5: Revenue Per Meal Equivalent

• Calculate revenue per meal equivalent to determine if there is sufficient revenue to cover meal costs.

### Lesson 6: Cost Per Meal Equivalent

• Calculate cost per meal equivalent to ensure the costs to produce a meal does not exceed the revenue per meal equivalent.

### Lesson 7: Cost as a Percentage of Revenue

 Calculate the cost as a percentage of revenue or operating ratios to analyze food cost or labor cost.

### Lesson 8: Break-Even Point (BEP)

• Calculate break-even point (BEP) to determine financial feasibility of a new program, make better financial decisions, and create annual benchmark goals.

### Lesson 9: Inventory Turnover Rate

 Calculate and analyze the efficient monthly and annual use of inventory to control food and supply costs.

### Lesson 10: Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH)

• Calculate Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH) and apply the information to measure the productivity and production efficiency of the school nutrition program.

### Lesson 11: Staff Turnover Rate

• Calculate staff turnover rate to determine how often positions must be filled.

### Lesson 12: Absenteeism Rate

• Calculate and analyze the time employees miss work in order to control labor cost.

### **Ground Rules**

**Instructor's Note:** You should have received some Ground Rules in the toolkit box from ICN to post around the room prior to class.

- Show up on time and come prepared. Be prompt in arriving and in returning from breaks. Come with a positive attitude.
- **Stay mentally and physically present.** Be present and stay on task. Listen attentively to others and avoid disruptive side conversations.
- Let everyone participate. Be patient when listening to others speak. Treat all participants with the same respect that you would want from them.
- Listen with an open mind. Stay open to new ways of doing things, and listen for understanding. You can respect another person's point of view without agreeing with them.
- **Think before speaking.** Seek first to understand, then to be understood. Avoid using idioms, three letter acronyms, and phrases that can be misunderstood.
- Attack the problem not the person. Respectfully challenge the idea, not the person. Honest and constructive discussions are necessary to get the best results.

# Training-at-a-Glance

Time Allowed	Торіс	Activity	Materials	
15 minutes	Introduction	<ul><li> Pre-Assessment</li><li> Ice Breaker</li></ul>	<ul><li>Participant's Workbook</li><li>Pre-Assessment</li></ul>	
Lesson 1: M	eal Equivalents (MEQ)		<u> </u>	
Objective: C	alculate meal equivalents and erformance of school nutrition	apply the information to meas programs.	sure the	
20 minutes	Meal Equivalents (MEQ)	<ul> <li>Calculating Meal Equivalents</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>	
Lesson 2: Av	verage Daily Participation (A	JDP)		
<b>Objective:</b> Calculate average daily participation (ADP) and apply the information for forecasting and making decisions pertaining to labor, food purchasing, and menu planning.				
15 minutes	<ul> <li>Average Daily Participation (ADP)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Calculating Average Daily Participation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>	
Lesson 3: Re	evenues			
<b>Objective:</b> In ເເ pr	terpret and analyze revenues urrent period, the previous per ogram.	on a monthly report to monito iod, and year-to-date of the sc	r trends of the hool nutrition	
15 minutes	Revenues	<ul> <li>Classification of Revenues</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>	
Lesson 4: Ex	(penditures			
<b>Objective:</b> Interpret and analyze expenditures on a monthly report to monitor and identify monthly and annual trends.				
15 minutes	Expenditures	<ul> <li>Classification of Expenditures</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>	
Lesson 5: Revenue Per Meal Equivalent				
<b>Objective:</b> Calculate revenue per meal equivalent to determine if there is sufficient revenue to cover meal costs.				
10 minutes	<ul> <li>Revenue Per Meal Equivalent</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Calculating Revenue Per Meal Equivalent</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>	

Time Allowed	Торіс	Activity	Materials				
Lesson 6: Co	Lesson 6: Cost Per Meal Equivalent						
Objective: C	alculate cost per meal equival ot exceed the revenue per me	ent to ensure the costs to proc al equivalent.	duce a meal does				
15 minutes	Cost Per Meal Equivalent	<ul> <li>Calculating Cost Per Meal Equivalent</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>				
Lesson 7: Co	ost as a Percentage of Reve	nue					
Objective: C	alculate the cost as a percentates or labor cost.	age of revenue or operating ra	tios to analyze food				
15 minutes	<ul> <li>Cost as a Percentage of Revenue</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Calculating Cost as a Percentage of Revenue</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>				
Lesson 8: Bi	reak-Even Point						
<b>Objective:</b> Calculate break-even point (BEP) to determine financial feasibility of a new program, make better financial decisions, and create annual benchmark goals.							
15 minutes	<ul> <li>Break-Even Point</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Calculating Break-Even Point</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>				
Lesson 9: In	ventory Turnover Rate						
Objective: C fo	alculate and analyze the effici- od and supply costs.	ent monthly and annual use of	f inventory to control				
15 minutes	Inventory Turnover Rate	<ul> <li>Calculating Inventory Turnover Rate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>				
Lesson 10: N	Lesson 10: Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH)						
<b>Objective:</b> Calculate Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH) and apply the information to measure the productivity and production efficiency of the school nutrition program.							
15 minutes	Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH)	<ul> <li>Calculating Meals Per Labor Hour</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>				
Lesson 11: Staff Turnover Rate							
Objective: Calculate staff turnover rate to determine how often positions must be filled.							
15 minutes	Staff Turnover Rate	<ul> <li>Calculating Staff Turnover Rate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>				

Time Allowed	Торіс	Activity	Materials		
Lesson 12: A	Absenteeism Rate				
<b>Objective:</b> Calculate and analyze the time employees miss work in order to control labor cost.					
15 minutes	Absenteeism Rate	<ul> <li>Calculating Absenteeism Rate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participant's Workbook</li> </ul>		
30 minutes		ABC School District Case     Study	Post-Assessment		
5 minutes		<ul> <li>KPI Interactive Spreadsheets</li> </ul>			
10 minutes		Post-Assessment			
4 Hours Total Instructional Training					

**Instructor's Note:** Take a short stretch period after Lessons 4 and 8. This is a good time to break the participants into new working groups.

### **Preparation Checklist**

**Instructions:** The following tasks are necessary for presenting this lesson. Assign each task to a specific person and determine the date that each task must be completed. Keep track of the progress by checking off tasks as they are completed. [Items may vary according to needs of particular lessons.]

Task	Person Responsible	Completion Date	✓
Reserve equipment and gather supplies as needed for use on the day of class (6 weeks prior).			
Instructor's Manual Roster of participants attending for instructor Participant sign-in sheets			
List of equipment and supplies needed Microphone (preferably wireless) Computer to present slides and/or DVD Projector and Screen Wireless presenter device and laser pointer Calculators Pens, pencils, note paper, highlighters, self- adhesive notes, (each table) Chart paper and markers Name tags and table tents Different color self-adhesive dots (one dot is to be placed on the top cover of the Participant's Workbook). The dots will be used to divide the participants into groups.			
<b>Participant's Workbook</b> Agenda, roster of presenters/participants, and handouts Pre-/Post-Assessments			

**Instructor's Note:** You will find color self-adhesive dots in the toolkit. Divide the participants into equal number groups. For each group, place a color dot on the front of the Participants' Workbook. Have participants from different schools or school districts in different groups. For the first four lessons, let the participants sit where they want to sit. After Lesson 4, have the participants sit based on the color dot that was placed on the workbook.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Institute of Child Nutrition

Instructor's Note: Have this slide on the screen as participants enter the room.

### Introduction

#### SHOW SLIDE: Essential Key Performance Indicators for School Nutrition Success

**SAY:** Welcome to the Institute of Child Nutrition's (ICN) *Essential Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for School Nutrition Success.* This 4-hour training is provided by (state the organization sponsoring the training). It will focus on the most critical aspects of a school nutrition program performance and provide a reference for identifying and applying the key performance indicators (KPIs) to achieve success.

The Institute of Child Nutrition (ICN) has provided you with a Participant's Workbook. The information and activities in the workbook were developed to help you gain a better understanding of the KPI concepts and principles as they relate to school nutrition programs.

Other items on your table (e.g., index cards, sticky notes, table name tents, pens, markers, calculators) may be used during the training.

### Housekeeping

**SAY:** There are a few "housekeeping" items to review.

- The restrooms and water fountain are located (point out the location).
- Be sure you are signed in on the sign-in sheets; there is one for ICN and one for the training sponsor.
- I will try to answer questions throughout the training; however, sometimes a question requires research or a longer answer than time allows. Because all of your questions are important, a "Bike Rack" has been posted. Write your question on a sticky note and post it to the Bike Rack.

**Instructor's Note:** Write "Bike Rack" at the top of a chart paper and post it in a convenient area of the room.

#### SHOW SLIDE: <u>Pre-Assessment</u>

**DO:** Pass out the **Pre-Assessment**. Explain the identifier to be placed in the upper right hand corner.

- **SAY:** Before we begin the training, I would like each of you to complete an assessment. The purpose is to review what you already know about key performance indicators. The assessment is anonymous. Before you begin answering the questions, please write a four-digit number as an identifier in the top right hand corner of the page. It's important to remember the numbers because you will use the same four-digit number as an identifier on the post-assessment at the end of the training. The ID is used to match pre-assessment information with post-assessment answers to determine knowledge gained. You have approximately 10 minutes to complete the pre-assessment. After you complete the assessment, put it on one side of the table, and I will come by and collect it.
- **DO:** Collect the pre-assessments.

### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Introductions

- **SAY:** Before we begin the training, I would like everyone to introduce themselves. Tell us your name, the name of your school district or school, and how many years you have been in the school nutrition program. I will start.
- DO: Introduce yourself.
- **SAY:** Let's begin on this side of the room (point to the left or right).
- **DO:** Allow everyone to introduce themselves.
- **SAY:** This activity introduces you to a new partner, someone you can contact if you have a question or want to bounce a new idea on to see what they think.

The 12 key performance indicators (KPIs) are grouped into three general areas. These areas and KPIs are:

- Meal Counts and Participation
  - 1. Meal Equivalents (MEQ)
  - 2. Average Daily Participation (ADP)

Financial and Inventory Management

- 3. Revenues
- 4. Expenditures
- 5. Revenue Per Meal Equivalent
- 6. Cost Per Meal Equivalent
- 7. Cost as a Percentage of Revenue
- 8. Break-Even Point (BEP)
- 9. Inventory Turnover Rate

Productivity and Labor

- 10. Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH)
- 11. Staff Turnover Rate
- 12. Absenteeism Rate

Let's begin with meal equivalents.

### Lesson 1: Meal Equivalents (MEQ)

**Objective:** Calculate meal equivalents and apply the information to measure the performance of school nutrition programs.

### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 1: Meal Equivalents (MEQ)

- **SAY:** In this lesson, we will discuss calculating meal equivalents (MEQ) and how to apply the information to measure the performance of your school nutrition program.
- ASK: Who can tell me what meal equivalents (MEQ) are?
- DO: Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Meal equivalents (MEQ) are the conversion of different meal services (i.e., breakfast, supper, and snacks) and nonprogram food sales to the equivalent of one federally reimbursable student lunch for comparison purposes.
- ASK: Why would you want to calculate meal equivalents (MEQ) for your school?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

FEEDBACK: Meal equivalents (MEQ) are used to measure how well the program is operating.

- ASK: How often would you calculate meal equivalents (MEQ)?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- FEEDBACK: It can be calculated weekly, monthly, and annually.

### SHOW SLIDE: Meal Equivalent Conversion Chart

**SAY:** Let's look at calculating meal equivalents (MEQ) and how to apply the information to measure the performance of your school nutrition program.

To calculate meal equivalents (MEQ), you will need specific data.

**ASK:** Where do you think you can find the information for the meal equivalents?

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

- **FEEDBACK:** The meal count and sales data are electronically or manually entered at the point-of-sale system used by the school nutrition program. This data can be found in reports such as end of day sales reports, edit check worksheets, and/or deposit reports.
- **SAY:** Look at the handout, **Meal Equivalents**, as we discuss how to calculate meal equivalents (MEQ).
- DO: Review the Meal Equivalents handout.

### **Meal Equivalents**

Meal Service	Conversion Factor	Rationale
1 Lunch or 1 Supper (Student or Adult)	= 1.00	All student reimbursable lunches, student reimbursable suppers, and full-paid adult lunches are counted as one MEQ. If a student purchases more than one lunch on a given day, the second lunch is considered non- reimbursable and is reported as a nonprogram food sale. The category for reporting is determined by State agency requirements. Lunches eaten by SN employees at no charge are considered "in-kind" meals and should not be counted as a meal equivalent.
1 Breakfast	= 0.67	The most common calculation for determining breakfast MEQs specifies that three breakfast meals count as two MEQs (2/3=0.67). However, it is important to note that the MEQ ratio used for calculating breakfast MEQs varies from state to state, and SN administrators should check with their State agencies for guidance. Once a ratio is selected, it should remain consistent for the entire reporting period (year) for comparison and benchmarking purposes.
1 Snack	= 0.33	National School Lunch Program (NSLP) snacks are served to children and youth in after-school care programs that are eligible for United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) reimbursement. While there are no current research studies to support the meal equivalency ratio, a survey of selected State agencies indicated most states use a 3-to-1 ratio of snacks to MEQs. Using this equivalency, snacks can be converted to MEQs as follows: MEQ=Number of snacks served x conversion factor (1/3 = 0.33).
Nonprogram Food Sales	<ul> <li>Dollar amount of nonprogram food sales /</li> <li>(current free lunch reimbursement rate + current</li> <li>USDA Food value [which changes annually])</li> </ul>	The MEQ calculations for all other SN program categories are based on the annual Federal reimbursement rate for a free lunch plus the USDA Foods value. <u>Nonprogram Food Sales</u> <sup>1</sup> Free lunch reimbursement rate <sup>2</sup> + USDA Foods value <sup>3</sup> The same formula would apply for other school nutrition program events, such as catered meals or special school functions.

<sup>1</sup> Nonprogram Food Sales: Food other than a reimbursable meal sold in an SN program participating in a USDA Child Nutrition Program (i.e., NSLP, School Breakfast Program [SBP], etc.). This food is purchased using funds from the school food authority of the school, including food that is sold in competition with the SN program.

<sup>2</sup> Free Lunch Reimbursement Rate: This rate changes annually. This rate can be found on the USDA Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) website at the following link: https://www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/rates-reimbursement.

<sup>3</sup> Value of USDA Foods: This value changes annually. The value can be found on the USDA FNS website at the following link: https://www.fns.usda.gov/fdd/value-donated-foods-notices. For states such as Kansas that receive cash in lieu of USDA Foods, please contact your State agency to determine what figure to use.

- **SAY:** Some states may use different conversion factor numbers to figure meal equivalents. If you are not sure what your state uses, please contact your State agency. The formula is the same, the numbers may be different.
- ASK: Do you have any questions about meal equivalents (MEQ)?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer, and get back with them.
- ASK: Where did we say we got the information for the meal equivalents?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** The meal count and sales data are found at the point-of-sale system used by the school nutrition program. This data can be found in reports such as end of day sales reports, edit check worksheets, and/or deposit reports.
- **SAY:** The conversion of all school nutrition program food sales to meal equivalents (MEQ) allows the calculation of three key performance indicators, revenue per meal equivalent, cost per meal equivalent, and Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH).
- **DO:** Ask the participants to complete the activity worksheet.

### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Meal Equivalents

- SAY: Let's complete an activity to see what you have learned. Look at the Calculating Meal Equivalents activity worksheet.
- **DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or need help. When everyone has completed the activity, go over the answers. Explain how to calculate the answers if someone does not understand.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Meal Equivalents**

**Instructions:** The school nutrition director at ABC School District has gathered end of the month data from each school in the district. One of the reports submitted to the superintendent ask for meal equivalents (MEQ) each month. Using the following data and the information learned in this lesson, determine what the meal equivalents (MEQ) are for ABC School District. You will have about five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

### **Calculating Meal Equivalents**

### Given data:

The calculations are based on the reimbursement rates (3.33) and the USDA Foods value (0.2350) effective beginning July 1, 2018, for school year 2018-2019. Reimbursement rates should be updated annually because these amounts will change every July.

Meal Categories	Conversion Factors			Meal Equivalents
11,000 student reimbursable breakfasts	×	0.67	=	7,370
400 adult non-reimbursable breakfast	×	0.67	=	268
24,000 student reimbursable lunches	×	1.00	=	24,000
700 adult lunches	×	1.00	=	700
8,000 student reimbursable suppers	×	1.00	=	8,000
20,000 after-school snacks	×	0.33	=	6,600
\$9,000 dollars in nonprogram food sales	×	(\$3.33 + .2350) 3.565	=	2,525
Total Meal Equivalents				49,463

**DO:** When everyone has completed the activity, review the answers.

ASK: Do you have any questions about meal equivalents (MEQ) and how to calculate them?

**DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

### Lesson 2: Average Daily Participation (ADP)

**Objective:** Calculate average daily participation (ADP) and apply the information for forecasting and making decisions pertaining to labor, food purchasing, and menu planning.

### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 2: Average Daily Participation

- **SAY:** In this lesson, we will calculate ADP and determine how to apply the information for forecasting and making decisions pertaining to labor, food purchasing, and menu planning.
- ASK: What is average daily participation (ADP)?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Average daily participation (ADP) is the average number of student reimbursable meals served in a school nutrition program on a daily basis.
- ASK: Why would you want to calculate average daily participation (ADP) in your school?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Average daily participation (ADP) can assist you in forecasting and decisionmaking. Other benefits of calculating ADP will allow you to monitor and make informed decisions on labor requirements, food purchasing, and non-food purchasing projections.
- **SAY:** Calculating average daily participation (ADP) will strengthen the program's resources through cost control. The data you gather will allow you to establish participation goals and to create objectives for meeting those goals. When this data is collected over several years, it can help you identify trends and project future needs. Average daily participation (ADP) can be used to assess the popularity of menu options, evaluate productivity, and gauge customer satisfaction. Average daily participation is not calculated on supper because that meal is outside the school day.
- ASK: How often would you calculate average daily participation (ADP)?

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

**FEEDBACK:** Average daily participation (ADP) can be calculated daily, weekly, monthly, or as often as needed.

### SHOW SLIDE: Average Daily Participation Calculations

**SAY:** To calculate average daily participation (ADP), divide the number of student meals served during the month by the number of operating days in that month. The meal count data is usually captured electronically or manually at the point-of-sale system.

To determine the ADP for breakfast and lunch, you will need the meal count for each meal. The formula for calculating the different meals are as follows:

ADP Breakfast	=	Number of Breakfasts Served in a Month Number of Operating Days in that Month
ADP Lunch	=	Number of Lunches Served in a Month Number of Operating Days in that Month

**DO:** Have the formulas on a piece of chart paper. Give the participants 2 minutes to calculate the average daily participation (ADP) for breakfast and lunch.

### **SAY:** Let's look at an example.

123 School District in a month with 15 operating days served:

7,563 reimbursable student breakfasts,

15,467 reimbursable student lunches.

Calculate the average daily participation (ADP) for breakfast and lunch.

**DO:** Allow participants two (2) minutes to calculate the answers.

**ASK:** Would someone like to share their answer for breakfast? Would someone like to share their answer for lunch?

### FEEDBACK:

To calculate ADP for breakfast, divide 7,563 by 15, and the answer is **504.2 or 504**. To calculate ADP for lunch, divide 15,467 by 15, and the answer is **1031.1 or 1031**.

- **ASK:** Are there any questions on calculating average daily participation (ADP) before we move on to Average Daily Participation rate?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability.

- **SAY:** Average daily participation (ADP) rate is the ratio of students eating a school meal to the average number of students attending school. The daily attendance comes from the school office. USDA calculates ADP rates based on average daily attendance rather than enrollment. Calculating ADP rates this way is considered fairer to schools because the calculation does not include students who are absent or do not eat lunch or breakfast. To calculate average daily attendance, obtain the number from the school office and subtract the number of students who do not have access to the meal service, such as half-day kindergarten students.
- **ASK:** Can someone tell me why you do not calculate the average daily participation (ADP) rate for supper?
- **FEEDBACK:** Supper is served outside of the school day; therefore, attendance does not apply to the supper meal.

### SHOW SLIDE: <u>Average Daily Participation Rate</u>

**SAY:** To calculate the average daily participation (ADP) rates, use the following formulas:

ADP Rate Breakfast	=	Breakfast ADP Average Daily Attendance
ADP Rate Lunch	=	Lunch ADP

Using the previous example, let's continue by calculating the average daily participation (ADP) rate for 123 School District. For the current reporting period, an average of 3,500 students attended school in the district on a daily basis. (The information was obtained from the school district office.) However, 100 students did not have access to lunch because they were half-day kindergarten students, and an average of 156 students were absent in the district the whole day.

An average of 504 students ate a reimbursable breakfast and an average of 1031 students ate a reimbursable lunch on a daily basis. Using the numbers from the previous activity, calculate the average daily participation (ADP) rate for 123 School District.

ADP Rate Breakfast	=	 3,500 × 100	= 0.144 or 14%
ADP Rate Lunch	=	<u>1031</u> (3,500 – 100) × 100	= 0.3032 or 30%

- **ASK:** How can average daily participation (ADP) and average daily participation rate help you make decisions in your school nutrition program?
- **FEEDBACK:** Average daily participation (ADP) can be used as a major forecasting tool. It can be used in the following ways:
  - · Prevent waste in excess labor hours and overproduction of food
  - Monitor participation trends over time
  - Monitor customer satisfaction and address customer concerns
  - · Identify opportunities for increasing meal participation
  - Determine labor needs and assignments
  - Create food production schedules
  - Evaluate menu items
  - Measure program growth

ASK: Are there any questions on calculating average daily participation (ADP) and ADP rate?

DO: Answer questions to the best of your ability.

### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Average Daily Participation and ADP Rate

- **SAY:** In the next activity, **Calculating Average Daily Participation**, you will use the information given to calculate ADP and ADP rate for ABC School District.
- **DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or need help. At the end of the five minutes, go over the answers. Explain how to calculate the answers if someone does not understand.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Average Daily Participation**

**Instructions:** ABC school district served 11,400 reimbursable student breakfasts and 24,700 reimbursable student lunches during a month with 21 operating days. Using the formulas just discussed, calculate the ADP for breakfast and lunch. Then, calculate the ADP rate for breakfast and lunch. You will have five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

### **Calculating Average Daily Participation**

ADP Breakfast	=	<u>11,400</u> 21	=	542.8 or 543
ADP Lunch	=	<u>24,700</u> 21	=	1,176.1 or 1,176
For the current reporting period, an average of 2,200 students attended school in the district on a daily basis. (The information was obtained from the school district office.) However, 100 students did not have access to lunch because they were half-day kindergarten students, and 147 students were absent in the district the whole day.

> ADP Rate Breakfast =  $\frac{543}{2,200} \times 100 = 0.2468 \text{ or } 25\%$ ADP Rate Lunch =  $\frac{1,176}{(2,200-100)} \times 100 = 0.56 \text{ or } 56\%$

- **DO:** When everyone has completed the activity, review the answers.
- **ASK:** What about the 147 students that were absent. Why are they not subtracted from the 2,200 students in attendance?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** The 147 students are already count in the 2,200.
- **ASK:** Do you have any questions about average daily participation (ADP), average daily participation rate, and how to calculate them?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

### Lesson 3: Revenues

**Objective:** Interpret and analyze revenues on a monthly report to monitor trends of the current period, the previous period, and year-to-date of the school nutrition program.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 3: Revenues

**SAY:** In this lesson, we will discuss how to interpret and analyze revenues on a monthly report. It is important to monitor financial trends for the current period, the previous period, and year-to-date of the school nutrition program to determine if the school nutrition program is making a profit, losing money, or breaking even.

School nutrition (SN) program revenues are all monies received by or accruing to the nonprofit food service account, and include, but are not limited to, the potential sources found in the handout **Revenue Terms and Definitions**. Some of these categories differ from state to state. Check with your State agency for guidance.

**DO:** Review the handout, **Revenue Terms and Definitions**. Make sure everyone knows and understands the terms and definitions.

# **Revenue Terms and Definitions**

Federal Sources	Payments received from Federal funds for reimbursable meals, after-school snacks, and suppers, as well as the value of USDA Foods received, cash received in lieu of USDA Foods, Federal grants, and funds for other Federal nutrition programs.
State Sources	Funds received by the SN program from the State government (i.e., "state matching" funds).
Local Sources	Funds received from sources such as local government aid, grants, or contributions. Student and adult meal sales, contract meal sales, other food sales, and interest on bank deposits are considered local sources. This does not include local funds transferred into an SN program that must be paid back to the school district (i.e., loans to an SN program).
Student Meal Sales	Funds identified as revenue received from the sale of reimbursable meals to students. This includes monies received from full-paying and reduced price students.
Adult Meal Sales	All revenue received from the sale of meals to adults. Meals sold to school employees, parents, and guests of the school district should be included in this category.
Contract Meal Sales	Funds received from the sale of meals prepared/served for an agreed price to an agency, organization, business, or group who have entered into a contractual agreement with the SN program.
Nonprogram Food Sales	Funds received from food sales such as á la carte, extra meal components (milk), snacks, and special school or catered meals. Some states and districts record adult meal sales in this category.
Miscellaneous/Other Revenue	Other revenue not classified or included elsewhere, such as rebates, sale of surplus equipment, lease or rental of equipment, grant funds (i.e., "No Kid Hungry", Dairy Council breakfast grants, Federal equipment grants, etc.), and concession sales.
Interest	Money earned on bank deposits, investments, etc.
Fund Transfer-In	Funds transferred to the SN program from other Board of Education funds. (This does not include "loans to an SN program" that must be repaid to the district.)

- **SAY:** The management of revenue is critical to the financial stability of a SN program. A successful SN director must ensure there is enough revenue to meet expenditure obligations. According to Federal guidelines, a SN program cannot show a deficit (negative ending balance). Therefore, the goal of a SN program should be to end each fiscal year with a positive (minimum of zero) balance.
- ASK: How often should you calculate the revenue of your SN program?
- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Revenues should be calculated at least once a month.
- ASK: Does anyone know where to find the information?
- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Your business manager or accountant will be able to supply you with all of the revenue information.
- **SAY:** Revenues are listed on a revenue and expenditures statement, sometimes called an income statement or a statement of activities. This report is usually prepared at the end of the month by the SN office or the school business office.

Let's look at examples of a statement of activities.

- DO: Review the handout, Statement of Activities, with the participants.
- **SAY:** Look at the **Statement of Activities** handout. There are four types of financial information on the Statement of Activities (Revenue and Expenditures) which includes
  - total revenue available to the program by source,
  - total expenditures by category,
  - · net excess/deficit to the program for the period of the statement, and
  - comparison of current month with previous month's financial information and year-to-date information.

## **Statement of Activities**

School Nutrition Program Ending \_\_\_\_\_ (Month) (Year)

Revenue Source	Current Month	Previous Month	YTD
Local Sources			
Student Meal Sales	\$24,978	\$23,025	\$96,150
Adult Meal Sales	2,376	2,175	9,102
Other Food Sales	11,326	10,785	44,222
Contract Meals	1,575	1,560	6,250
Interest	260	255	1,030
State Sources	18,831	0	18,831
Federal Sources (includes USDA Foods value)	186,639	182,220	737,718
Miscellaneous	0	8,010	8,010
Fund Transfer-In	0	0	0
Total Revenue	\$245,985	\$228,030	\$921,313
Expenditures	Current Month	Previous Month	YTD
Expenditures Salaries and Wages	Current Month \$65,875	Previous Month \$63,900	YTD \$259,550
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits	Current Month \$65,875 28,975	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364	YTD \$259,550 108,678
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183 21,360	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies Miscellaneous	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183 21,360 0	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies Miscellaneous Capital Assets	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625 0	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183 90,183 21,360 0	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950 70,000
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies Miscellaneous Capital Assets Indirect Costs	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625 0 0	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183 90,183 21,360 0 55,000	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950 70,000 23,330
ExpendituresSalaries and WagesEmployee BenefitsPurchased ServicesProperty ServicesPurchased Food/USDA FoodsSuppliesMiscellaneousCapital AssetsIndirect CostsFund Transfer-Out	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625 0 0 5,835	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183 21,360 0 55,000 5,830	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950 70,000 23,330 0
ExpendituresSalaries and WagesEmployee BenefitsPurchased ServicesProperty ServicesPurchased Food/USDA FoodsSuppliesMiscellaneousCapital AssetsIndirect CostsFund Transfer-OutTotal Expenditures	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625 0 5,835 0 \$222,930	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183 90,183 21,360 0 55,000 5,830 0 \$262,243	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950 70,000 23,330 0 \$930,046

#### Notes:

(1) School Nutrition Program directors should modify the Statement of Activities to meet the local and State requirements.

(2) The dollar amounts shown in this statement are for a hypothetical school district and are illustrative only.

**ASK:** Comparing the current months' revenue with the previous months', what are some major differences that would cause the different revenue totals?

**DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.

#### FEEDBACK:

- The current month has \$18,831 in state revenues not found in the previous month.
- The previous month has \$8,010 in miscellaneous revenues not found in the current month.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Classification of Revenues

- SAY: Let's do an activity to see what you have learned. Take out the Classification of Revenues activity worksheet.
- **DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or need help. At the end of the five minutes, go over the answers. Refer to the handout, **Revenue Terms and Definitions**, if there are any questions.

### **ACTIVITY: Classification of Revenues**

**Instructions:** Link the revenue category described in Column A with the best source provided in Column B. Sources in Column B may be used more than one time. You will have five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

## **Classification of Revenues Answer Key**

**Instructions:** Link the revenue category described in Column A with the best source provided in Column B. Sources in Column B may be used more than one time.

	Column A	Column B
	Revenue Received	Revenue Source
A	Money earned on bank deposits and investments	A. Local
<u>C</u>	Monetary value of food donated to schools by USDA	B. State
	Cash rebates from food companies received by the	C. Federal
	school nutrition program after the fiscal year has closed	D. Miscellaneous
<u> </u>	Revenue received from students for the purchase of nonprogram food items	E. Fund Transfer
<u>A/B/C</u>	Grant money awarded to school districts who submit successful proposals for special projects and activities	
	Money received from the sale of surplus equipment	
<u> </u>	Revenues paid to school districts by the State for eligible breakfast meals	
<u>C</u>	Cash payment received for free meals that meet Federal standards and are served to eligible students	
<u> </u>	Revenue received from contract meals provided to a charter school	
<u> </u>	Funds transferred to the school nutrition program from the school district's general fund	

**SAY:** Let's go over the answers to see how well you did.

**DO:** Ask for volunteers to give their answer to each revenue item.

**SAY:** The key performance indicator, revenues, can be used to monitor trends for each individual revenue line item for the current period, the previous period, and the year-to-date. Trends and directions for improvement may be identified that will assist you in making better financial decisions.

Total SN program revenues should meet or exceed total expenditures, thus making a program self-supporting. School nutrition programs are usually expected to be self-supporting and not requiring budget transfers from the school district.

ASK: Does anyone know what can influence the amount of revenue you receive?

**DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.

#### FEEDBACK:

- Quality of the SN program
- Federal reimbursement (the percentage of students eligible for free and reduced price meals)
- Average daily participation (ADP)
- · Nonprogram (á la carte) food sales
- District policies (e.g., open/closed campus, adequate meal periods)
- Meal pricing
- · General ledger
- **ASK:** Do you have any questions about the key performance indicator, revenues, when revenues should be calculated, where to find the information, and how the information can be used?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

## **Lesson 4: Expenditures**

**Objective:** Interpret and analyze expenditures on a monthly report to monitor and identify monthly and annual trends.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 4: Expenditures

**SAY:** Our next lesson is on expenditures. We will discuss how to interpret and analyze expenditures on a monthly report. It is important to monitor expenditures to identify monthly and annual trends.

Expenditures are those allowable costs that can be identified specifically with the production and service of meals to school children. A list of expenditure categories for a school nutrition (SN) program can be found in the handout **Expenditure Terms and Definitions**. Some of these categories differ from state to state. Check with your State agency for guidance.

**DO:** Review the handout, **Expenditure Terms and Definitions**. Make sure everyone knows and understands the terms and definitions.

# **Expenditure Terms and Definitions**

#### **Major Expenditure Categories**

Salaries and Wages	Expenses that include regular pay, extra time, overtime pay, vacation pay, severance pay, holiday pay, substitute pay, administrative salaries, and other salaries and wages paid from school nutrition (SN) program funds.
Employee Benefits	Expenses that include social security, health/life insurance, workers' compensation, and unemployment insurance. This item may include employee meals, job-related medical expenses not covered by insurance, and other expenses, such as uniforms.
Purchased Food	The amount expended for the purchase of all food sold in the SN program, charges for processing USDA Foods from bulk or raw form to ready-to-use end products, and the cost of USDA Foods delivery fees to school districts. (Some states may require USDA Foods processing fees under purchased services.)
USDA Foods	Nutritious foods produced by American agricultural producers and purchased by USDA for distribution in Federal feeding programs including the National School Lunch Program (NSLP).
Paper Goods and Cleaning Supplies	The cost of disposable paper goods and supplies, such as dish machine and other chemicals used for production and service of food at the school site.

#### **Other Expenditure Categories**

General Operating Supplies	The cost of general supplies necessary for the operation of the SN program, including office supplies.
Purchased Services	Fees expended for professional and technical services, including accounting, legal advice, and training. Architects, consultants, computer specialist, food service management fees, and other similar services are also included. (Some states may require USDA Foods processing fees under purchased food.)
Maintenance	Property service, such as maintenance and upkeep of property. This includes energy costs, payments to other agencies for repairs and maintenance of SN program equipment, and repair or upkeep of cafeteria facilities. (These may be a direct cost or an indirect cost, but cannot be both.)
Miscellaneous	Expenditures not classified or included elsewhere.

### Other Expenditure Categories

Capital Assets	Costs for acquiring fixed assets, such as initial equipment or replacement of equipment. Expenditures for technology hardware and software and vehicles are also recorded here. Unit cost (capitalization threshold) and useful life may be specified by the business entity.
Non-Capitalized Assets	Equipment under the capital threshold, such as small wares.
Indirect Cost	General school district overhead attributable to the SN program, including SN activities and support services provided by other district departments that are recovered through an approved cost allocation plan.
Fund Transfer-Out	Funds transferred to another district fund and/or repayment of loans to the district.

- **SAY:** Analyzing expenditures can provide valuable information. For example, significant changes in cost categories are a red flag to monitor spending in a specific area. Deviations from goals (budget) indicate the need for further investigation. Other reasons to monitor expenditures are to identify transaction/accounting errors/discrepancies and to identify monthly and annual trends.
- ASK: How often should you calculate the expenditures of your SN program?
- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Expenditures should be calculated at least once a month.
- ASK: Does anyone know where to find the information?
- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Your business manager or accountant will be able to supply you with all of the expenditure information.
- **SAY:** Expenditures are listed on a revenue and expenditures statement, sometimes called an income statement or a statement of activities. This report is usually prepared at the end of the month by the SN office or the school business office.

Let's look at an example of a statement of activities report.

- DO: Review the handout, Statement of Activities, with the participants.
- **SAY:** Look at the **Statement of Activities** handout. There are four types of financial information on the Statement of Activities (Revenue and Expenditures).
  - Total revenue available to the program by source
  - Total expenditures by category
  - Net gain/loss to the program for the period of the statement
  - Comparison of current month with previous month's financial information and year-to-date information

## **Statement of Activities**

School Nutrition Program Ending \_\_\_\_\_ (Month) (Year)

Revenue Source	Current Month	<b>Previous Month</b>	YTD
Local Sources			
Student Meal Sales	\$24,978	\$23,025	\$96,150
Adult Meal Sales	2,376	2,175	9,102
Other Food Sales	11,326	10,785	44,222
Contract Meals	1,575	1,560	6,250
Interest	260	255	1,030
State Sources	18,831	0	18,831
Federal Sources (includes USDA Foods value)	186,639	182,220	737,718
Miscellaneous	0	8,010	8,010
Fund Transfer-In	0	0	0
Total Revenue	\$245,985	\$228,030	\$921,313
Expenditures	Current Month	<b>Previous Month</b>	YTD
Expenditures Salaries and Wages	Current Month \$65,875	Previous Month \$63,900	<b>YTD</b> \$259,550
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits	Current Month \$65,875 28,975	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364	YTD \$259,550 108,678
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170
Expenditures Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746
ExpendituresSalaries and WagesEmployee BenefitsPurchased ServicesProperty ServicesPurchased Food/USDA FoodsSupplies	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 90,183 21,360	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220
ExpendituresSalaries and WagesEmployee BenefitsPurchased ServicesProperty ServicesPurchased Food/USDA FoodsSuppliesMiscellaneous	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625	Previous Month \$63,900 25,364 326 280 280 90,183 21,360	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950
ExpendituresSalaries and WagesEmployee BenefitsPurchased ServicesProperty ServicesPurchased Food/USDA FoodsSuppliesMiscellaneousCapital Assets	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625	Previous Month         \$63,900         25,364         326         3280         90,183         21,360         0         55,000	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950 70,000
ExpendituresSalaries and WagesEmployee BenefitsPurchased ServicesProperty ServicesPurchased Food/USDA FoodsSuppliesMiscellaneousCapital AssetsIndirect Costs	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625 00	Previous Month         \$63,900         25,364         326         3280         90,183         90,183         21,360         0         55,000         5,830	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950 70,000 23,330
ExpendituresSalaries and WagesEmployee BenefitsPurchased ServicesProperty ServicesPurchased Food/USDA FoodsSuppliesMiscellaneousCapital AssetsIndirect CostsFund Transfer-Out	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625 00 5,835	Previous Month         \$63,900         25,364         326         328         90,183         90,183         21,360         0         55,000         5,830         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950 70,000 23,330 0
ExpendituresSalaries and WagesEmployee BenefitsPurchased ServicesProperty ServicesPurchased Food/USDA FoodsSuppliesMiscellaneousCapital AssetsIndirect CostsFund Transfer-OutTotal Expenditures	Current Month \$65,875 28,975 375 305 96,190 24,750 625 00 5,835 00 \$222,930	Previous Month         \$63,900         25,364         25,364         326         326         90,183         90,183         21,360         0         55,000         5,830         0         \$262,243	YTD \$259,550 108,678 1,402 1,170 372,746 92,220 950 70,000 23,330 0 \$930,046

#### Notes:

(1) School Nutrition Program directors should modify the Statement of Activities to meet the local and State requirements.

(2) The dollar amounts shown in this statement are for a hypothetical school district and are illustrative only.

- **ASK:** Compare the current month's expenditures with the previous month's. What are some differences that could cause the difference in expenditures?
- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.

#### FEEDBACK:

- In the current month there was a \$625 miscellaneous expense.
- In the current month there was an increase in the Purchased Food/USDA Foods by approximately \$6,000.
- In the previous month there was a purchase of capital equipment of \$55,000.

#### SHOW SLIDE: <u>Activity: Classifying Expenditures</u>

- SAY: Let's do an activity to see what you have learned about expenditures. Take out the Classifying Expenditures activity worksheet.
- **DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or need help. At the end of the five minutes, go over the answers. Ask for volunteers to give their answer to each expenditure item.

### **ACTIVITY: Classifying Expenditures**

**Instructions:** Link the revenue category described in Column A with the best source provided in Column B. Sources in Column B may be used more than one time. You will have five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

# **Classifying Expenditures**

**Instructions:** Link the revenue category described in Column A with the best source provided in Column B. Sources in Column B may be used more than one time.

	Column A	Column B
	Expenditures	Category
<u>C</u>	Cost of supplies necessary for the operation of the school nutrition program	A. Miscellaneous
-		B. Maintenance
_ <u> </u>	cash in lieu of	C. General Operating Supplies
A	Expenditures not classified or included elsewhere	D. Capital Assets
<u> </u>	Expenses that include social security, health/life insurance, workers' compensation, and unemployment insurance	E. Paper Goods and Cleaning Supplies
<u>    H    </u>	Equipment under the capital threshold, such as small wares	F. USDA Foods
E	Cost of disposable paper goods and other supplies, such	G. Employee Benefits
	as chemicals used for production and service of food	H. Non-Capitalized
<u> </u>	Amount expended for the purchase of all food sold in the	Assets
	SN program	I. Purchased Foods
<u> </u>	Property service, such as maintenance and upkeep of property	
	Costs for acquiring fixed assets	

**SAY:** As shown in the **Statement of Activity** report, trends for each individual expenditure line item should be monitored for the current period, the previous period, and the year-to-date. Trends and directions for improvement can be identified so that effective financial decisions are made.

Total SN program revenues should meet or exceed total expenditures, thus making a program self-supporting. The goal for labor cost plus benefits should be kept at or below 40% of total revenues. The following are not industry standards but some benchmarks observed in the School Lunch and Breakfast Cost Study-II Final Report (2008):

- Food costs = 38% of total cost
- Labor costs = 46% of total cost
- Other costs = 16% of total cost
- **ASK:** Do you have any questions about the key performance indicator, expenditures, when expenditures should be calculated, where to find the information, and how the information can be used?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

**Instructor's Note:** Take a short stretch break and divide the participants into groups based on the color dots on the front of their Participant's Workbook.

## Lesson 5: Revenue Per Meal Equivalent

**Objective:** Calculate revenue per meal equivalent to determine if there is sufficient revenue to cover meal costs.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 5: Revenue Per Meal Equivalent

- **SAY:** In this lesson, we will discuss how to calculate revenue per meal equivalent. Revenue per meal equivalent is a revenue management tool to help manage and analyze trends and project revenues. It is important to calculate and compare revenue per meal equivalent to costs per meal equivalent to ensure there is sufficient revenue to cover meal costs. This calculation simplifies the analysis of revenue by source. Trends and directions for improvement can be identified so that better financial decisions are made.
- ASK: How often should you calculate revenue per meal equivalent?
- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.
- FEEDBACK: Revenue per meal equivalent can be calculated weekly or monthly.
- **SAY:** Let's look at how you calculate revenue per meal equivalent and complete an activity. The equation is

Revenue ÷ Total Meal Equivalents (MEQs) = Revenue Per Meal Equivalent

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Revenue Per Meal Equivalent

- SAY: Locate the activity worksheet, Calculating Revenue Per Meal Equivalent.
- **DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or needs help. At the end of the five minutes, go over the answers. Explain how to calculate the answers if someone does not understand.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Revenue Per Meal Equivalent**

**Instructions:** Anywhere School District is spending \$2.87 on each meal served. Calculate the revenue per meal equivalent to determine if the school district is making a profit, breaking even, or losing money and the amount. Carry out the answers 4 places behind the decimal.

# **Calculating Revenue Per Meal Equivalent**

Revenue Source	Revenues	÷	Total MEQs	=	Revenue per Meal Equivalent
Student Meal Sales	\$18,250	÷	49,463	=	\$0.3690
Adult Meal Sales	\$1,250	÷	49,463	=	\$0.0253
Nonprogram Food Sales	\$5,140	÷	49,463	=	\$0.1039
Contract Food Sales	\$640	÷	49,463	=	\$0.0129
Federal Reimbursement	\$96,740	÷	49,463	=	\$1.9558
USDA Foods	\$7,180	÷	49,463	=	\$0.1452
State Reimbursement	\$850	÷	49,463	=	\$0.0172
Interest	\$140	÷	49,463	=	\$0.0028
Miscellaneous	\$260	÷	49,463	=	\$0.0053
Totals	\$130,450	÷	49,463	=	\$2.6374

ASK: Is Anywhere School District making a profit, breaking even, or losing money?

DO: Allow time for participants to respond.

**FEEDBACK:** The school district is losing money – about **\$0.23** per MEQ.

**SAY:** You will need to obtain revenues by source and meal count data to calculate revenue per meal equivalent. Meal count data is usually captured electronically or manually at the point-of-sale system utilized by SN programs.

Revenue is found on the revenue and expenditure statement or you can obtain the information from the business office. The revenue and expenditure statement is sometimes called an income statement or statement of activities. This report identifies revenues, expenditures, and fund balance for the current period, the previous period, and year-to-date. It is usually prepared at the end of the month by the SN office or the school business office.

The best way to use revenue per meal equivalent is to compare it to the cost per meal equivalent to ensure that costs are lower than revenues and the SN program is self-supporting. This key performance indicator (KPI) can be used to determine areas

where revenue can be increased. You can also make better financial decisions, such as whether to increase prices (especially for adult meals, contracted sales, and nonprogram food sales). Revenue per meal equivalent can be compared to budget projections, to the previous month's revenue per meal equivalent, and to the previous year's figures. Trends and directions for improvement can be identified so that effective financial decisions are made. Revenue per meal equivalent should meet or exceed the Federal reimbursement rate for a meal (breakfast, lunch, snack, or supper).

The following is a list of some factors that can influence revenue per meal equivalent:

- Average daily participation (ADP)
- Average daily attendance (ADA)
- Pricing of meals and á la carte items
- Use of USDA Foods
- · The percentage of students eligible for free and reduced price meals
- Open or closed campus
- Method of food service delivery

ASK: Do you have any questions about revenue per meal equivalent and how to calculate it?

**DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer, and get back with them.

### Lesson 6: Cost Per Meal Equivalent

**Objective:** Calculate cost per meal equivalent to ensure the costs to produce a meal does not exceed the revenue per meal equivalent.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 6: Cost Per Meal Equivalent

- **SAY:** The next lesson is on cost per meal equivalent. We are going to look at cost per meal equivalent and how to calculate it. Cost per meal equivalent is the dollar amount utilized by a school nutrition (SN) program to produce one meal equivalent. It is essential to calculate this key performance indicator (KPI) to measure the performance of the SN program. When the cost to produce a meal exceeds the revenue per meal equivalent, action must be taken.
- ASK: How often should you calculate revenue per meal equivalent?
- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.
- FEEDBACK: Cost per meal equivalent can be calculated weekly or monthly.
- **SAY:** Let's look at how you calculate cost per meal equivalent and complete an activity. The equation is

Expenditure ÷ Total Meal Equivalents (MEQ) = Cost per meal equivalent

Locate the activity worksheet, Calculating Cost Per Meal Equivalent.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Cost Per Meal Equivalent

**DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or need help. At the end of the five minutes, go over the answers. Explain how to calculate the answers if someone does not understand.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Cost Per Meal Equivalent**

**Instructions:** Anywhere School District receives \$2.64 per MEQ. Using the information in the table, calculate the cost per meal equivalent to determine if the school district is making a profit, breaking even, or losing money and the amount. Carry the answers out 4 places behind the decimal.

# **Calculating Cost Per Meal Equivalent**

Expenditure (Cost) Source	Costs/ Expenditures		Total MEQs	=	Cost Per Meal Equivalent
Salaries and Wages	\$40,000	÷	49,463	=	0.8087
Employee Benefits	\$15,000	÷	49,463	=	0.3033
Purchased Food	\$40,000	÷	49,463	=	0.8087
USDA Foods	\$12,000	÷	49,463	=	0.2426
Food Production/Cleaning Supplies	\$22,000	÷	49,463	=	0.4448
Total Expenditures	\$129,000	÷	49,463	=	2.6081

- **ASK:** Is Anywhere School District making a profit, breaking even, or losing money and by how much?
- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.

**FEEDBACK:** The school district is making a profit of **\$0.03** per meal equivalent.

**SAY:** You will need to obtain expenditures by source and meal count data to calculate cost per meal equivalent. Meal count data is usually captured electronically or manually at the point-of-sale system utilized by SN programs.

The expenditure information can be found on the revenue and expenditure statement or you can obtain the information from the business office. The revenue and expenditure statement is sometimes called an income statement or statement of activities. This report identifies revenues, expenditures, and fund balance for the current period, the previous period, and year-to-date. It is usually prepared at the end of the month by the SN office or the school business office.

When expenditures are categorized, each cost (e.g., food, labor, supplies, and other costs) can be calculated per meal equivalent. Cost per meal equivalent can be compared to budget projections, to the previous month's cost per meal equivalent, and to the previous year's figures. Trends and directions for improvement can be identified so that better financial decisions are made. Cost per meal equivalent should be compared to revenue per meal equivalent to ensure costs are lower than revenues to ensure a SN program is self-supporting.

The following is a list of some factors that can influence cost per meal equivalent:

- Type of meal preparation system
- Availability of labor
- School "start-up" expenses
- Seasonal price changes (e.g., fresh fruit and other market driven items)
- One-time purchases (e.g., equipment)
- Unplanned expenses (e.g., repair bills, food loss due to power failure)

ASK: Do you have any questions about cost per meal equivalent and how to calculate it?

**DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

## Lesson 7: Cost as a Percentage of Revenue

**Objective:** Calculate cost as a percentage of revenue or operating ratios to analyze food cost or labor cost.

#### SHOW SLIDE: *Lesson 7: Cost as a Percentage of Revenue*

**SAY:** Now, we are going to look at cost as a percentage of revenue, often referred to as operating ratios, and how it relates expenses to revenue. When calculating operating ratios, cost is usually analyzed in terms of food cost or labor cost.

Operating ratios help school nutrition (SN) directors evaluate and monitor their operations. These ratios are useful to management because they allow comparison of actual results against anticipated operational plans. Some examples are food cost percentage and labor cost percentage.

**Food cost percentage:** School nutrition directors rely on this ratio to determine whether expenditures for purchased food are reasonable and consistent with benchmarks.

**Labor cost percentage:** This percentage is useful to SN directors as a benchmark for making comparisons from school-to-school within a district, or from district-to-district within a State or region.

We learned in Lesson 4 that the total SN program revenues should meet or exceed total expenditures, thus making a program self-supporting. The goal for labor cost plus benefits should be kept at or below 40% of total revenues. The following are not industry standards but some benchmarks observed in the School Lunch and Breakfast Cost Study-II Final Report (2008):

- Food costs = 38% of total cost
- Labor costs = 46% of total cost
- Other costs = 16% of total cost

ASK: How often should these percentages be calculated?

**DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.

FEEDBACK: They should be calculated monthly.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Cost as a Percentage of Revenue Calculations

SAY: Let's look at how food cost percentage is calculated.

A school nutrition program has a total revenue of \$130,450 for the month of October and a food costs of \$52,000 for the same month. Using the following formula, we can determine the relationship of food cost to total revenue.

<u>Cost of Purchased Food</u> = Food Cost Percentage Total Revenue

<u>\$52,000</u> × 100 = 0.3986 or 40% 130,450

This operation has a 40% food cost in relation to total revenue for the month. That means that \$0.40 of every revenue dollar was spent for food in the month of October.

We can look at labor costs the same way. The school district has a payroll, including benefits and other related labor expenses, of \$55,000. Using the formula, we can determine the relationship of labor cost to total revenue.

```
Payroll, Benefits, and Other Related Labor Expenses = Labor Cost Percentage
Total Revenue
```

<u>\$55,000</u> × 100 = 0.4216 or 42% \$130,450

This tells the school nutrition director that \$0.42 of every revenue dollar was spent for labor and benefits for the month of October.

ASK: Does anyone have any questions concerning how to calculate these percentages?

- **DO:** Allow time for participants to respond.
- **SAY:** The revenue data can be found on the statement of activities (also known as the revenue and expenditure statement or income statement). The statement of activities report identifies revenues, expenditures, and fund balance for the current period, the previous period, and year-to-date. It is usually prepared at the end of the month by the school nutrition office or school business office.

Cost as a percentage of revenue is an important tool in annual budget development and monthly operations monitoring. When expenditures are calculated as a percentage of total revenue, they can be compared to budget projections, to the previous month's percentages, to a previous year's figures, to industry standards, and to similar schools for the same period. Trends and directions for improvement can be identified so that better financial decisions are made. All expenditures can be calculated as a percentage of total revenue. **ASK:** Are you ready for an activity?

**DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. At the end of the five minutes, go over the answers. Explain how to calculate the answers if someone does not understand.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Cost as a Percentage of Revenue

**SAY:** In the next activity, you will calculate costs as a percentage of revenue. Please turn in your Participant's Workbook to **Calculating Cost as a Percentage of Revenue** worksheet.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Cost as a Percentage of Revenue**

**Instructions:** Using the information in the table, calculate the cost as a percentage of revenue for Anywhere School District to determine how the school district is doing. Carry the answers out 4 places behind the decimal. Take about five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

## **Calculating Cost as a Percentage of Revenue**

Expenditure (Cost) Source	Costs/ Expenditures	÷	Revenue	×	100	=	Percentage of Revenue
Salaries and Wages	\$40,000	÷	\$130,450	×	100	=	31%
Employee Benefits	\$15,000	÷	\$130,450	×	100	=	11.5%
Purchased Food	\$40,000	÷	\$130,450	×	100	=	31%
USDA Foods	\$12,000	÷	\$130,450	×	100	=	9.2%
Food Production/Cleaning Supplies	\$22,000	÷	\$130,450	×	100	=	16.9%
Total Expenditures	\$129,000	÷	\$130,450	×	100	=	99.6%

- **ASK:** If a goal of no more than 40% labor costs (including benefits) to revenue is recommended, how is Anywhere School District doing on their percentage of revenue?
- **FEEDBACK:** If you just include salaries and wages, they are doing fine. However, when you include employee benefits, the percentage is 42.5 percent. The SN director of this school district might want to either re-examine staffing or see if they can increase participation or raise revenue.
- **SAY:** Let's look at the handout, **Factors That Influence Cost Percentage**. This handout lists some of the things that can affect food and labor cost percentage.

## **Factors That Influence Cost Percentages**

There are many factors that can influence costs percentage to revenue. A higher than expected food costs percentage may occur due to:

- incorrect portion control;
- overproduction and food waste;
- inaccurate inventories due to counting or valuation errors;
- not fully utilizing USDA Foods allotments;
- theft;
- high food costs;
- inefficient menu planning;
- use of pre-prepared and packaged foods versus "scratch" ingredients;
- · inaccurate meal counting and claiming; or
- unexpected expenses (such as fuel surcharges) due to the differences between states and/or regions.

A lower than expected food cost percentage should be investigated. While it may mean cost control methods are working better than expected, it could also indicate:

- inaccurate inventories,
- inaccurate reporting,
- · inadequate portion sizes, or
- unpaid invoices.

A higher than expected labor cost percentage may occur due to:

- the differences in labor expenditures between states and/or regions, or
- excess labor hours being allocated for the number of meals served.

A lower than expected labor cost percentage may occur due to:

- inadequate staffing, which leads to poor service.
- **ASK:** Do you have any questions about cost as a percentage of revenue and how to calculate it?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

## Lesson 8: Break-Even Point

**Objective:** Calculate break-even point (BEP) to determine financial feasibility of a new program, make better financial decisions, and create annual benchmark goals.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 8: Break-Even Point

- **SAY:** Our next lesson is on break-even point. We will cover calculating break-even point, how to apply the information to determine financial feasibility of a new program, make better financial decisions, and create annual benchmark goals for the school nutrition program.
- ASK: Can someone tell me what break-even point is?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Break-even point (BEP) is the point at which revenues and expenditures are equal. BEP is the amount of revenue (sales or income) needed to cover fixed and variable costs. When revenues exceed expenditures, excess revenue or an increase in fund balance occurs. When expenditures exceed revenues, a loss or a decrease in fund balance occurs.
- ASK: Why would you want to calculate break-even point in your school?

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

- **FEEDBACK:** Knowing the status of the school nutrition (SN) program regarding the BEP allows a SN director to gauge whether the program is self-sufficient and to make changes as needed. The BEP can be used to determine if starting an initiative (i.e., a supper program, an after-school snack program, etc.) will be financially feasible.
- ASK: How often should you calculate break-even point?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK**: Break-even point can be calculated monthly and annually.

**SAY:** The information needed to calculate break-even point can be found on a revenue and expenditure report known as the statement of activities report. This report is usually prepared at the end of the month by the SN office or the school business office. You will need the revenue, fixed costs, variable costs, and contribution margin for the period.

Fixed costs are those that do not vary with sales volume or number of customers served but stay fixed over time. The most common fixed costs are central office costs, manager's salary, basic telephone charges, core staff (not including substitute cost), and trash removal (unless by weight).

Variable costs are those that change with sales volume or number of customers served. The most common variable costs are food, supplies, paper goods, and some labor (temporary and part-time).

**Contribution margin** is the percent of revenue that can be used to cover fixed costs. For example, if the contribution margin is 46%, then 46 cents of every dollar in revenue goes to pay the fixed costs.

=

#### SHOW SLIDE: <u>Break-Even Point Calculations</u>

SAY: Use the following formulas to calculate break-even point\*:

BEP =

Fixed Costs Contribution Margin

Fixed Costs 1 – (Variable Cost / Revenue)

= Fixed Costs 1 – Variable Cost %

Note: When you have an operation within parentheses, do that calculation first. Then complete the remaining calculation.

\*Charter and non-public schools that participate in the National School Lunch Program (NSLP) may use vended food service management companies, and this would not be calculated the same way. Please consult with your State agency child nutrition authorities for guidance.

**ASK:** Does anyone have any questions before we complete an activity? The activity may help to answer some of your questions.

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Break-Even Point

**SAY:** Take out the **Calculating Break-Even Point** worksheet. Let's do this activity together.

**DO:** Read the instructions. Explain how to calculate BEP if someone does not understand.
### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Break-Even Point**

**Instructions:** Using the information in the following table, calculate BEP using the formulas previously discussed. Answer the three questions.

### **Calculating Break-Even Point**

Item	Revenues	Fixed Costs	Variable Costs
Revenue for the period	\$130,450		
Food Cost			\$52,000
Labor Cost (Core Staff)		\$40,000	
Benefit Cost		\$15,000	
General supplies/Paper supplies cost			\$22,000
Totals	\$130,450	\$55,000	\$74,000

 $\frac{\text{Fixed Costs}}{1 - (\text{Variable Costs / Revenue})} = \frac{\$55,000}{1 - (\$74,000 / \$130,450)} = \frac{\$55,000}{.43} = \$127,906.98$ 

#### **ASK:** What is the break-even point? **\$127,906.98**

What is the contribution margin? .43 What does the contribution margin mean? It means that 43 cents of every dollar in revenue goes toward paying the fixed costs.

**SAY:** The break-even point can be used to determine if starting an initiative (i.e., a supper program, an after-school snack program, etc.) will be financially feasible. Trends in BEP over time can indicate directions for improvement for making better financial decisions. The BEP can be calculated annually to create annual benchmark goals. School nutrition programs are expected to be self-sustaining. Therefore, school nutrition programs are expected to, at a minimum, break-even.

An important concept to keep in mind is the impact of increasing participation or the number of meals served on fixed and variable costs. Increasing volume if fixed costs are high will lower the BEP. Increasing volume if variable costs are high will raise the BEP. For example, if food costs are too high and participation increases, the financial position of the SN program will worsen. However, if labor costs are too high and participation increases, the financial position increases, the financial position of the SN program should improve.

The handout, **Factors That Influence Break-Even Point**, is a list of some of the revenues and expenditures that can affect your break-even point.

### **Factors That Influence Break-Even Point**

#### Changes in Revenue:

- Federal sources
- State sources
- Local sources
- Student meal sales
- Adult meal sales
- · Contract meal sales
- Nonprogram food sales
- Miscellaneous other revenue
- Interest
- Fund transfer-in
- Uncollected revenue

#### Changes in Expenditures:

- Food production supplies
- · Salaries and wages
- Employee benefits
- Purchased food products
- USDA Foods used
- · General operating supplies
- · Purchased services
- Property operation
- · Miscellaneous other expenditures
- · Capital assets
- Indirect costs
- Fund transfer-out

- **ASK:** Do you have any questions about break-even point, its importance, and how to calculate it?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

**Instructor's Note:** Take a quick stretch break and divide the participants into different groups. Have them count off. Have the ones sit at a table, the twos at another, etc.

### Lesson 9: Inventory Turnover Rate

**Objective:** Calculate and analyze the efficient monthly and annual use of inventory to control food and supply costs.

#### SHOW SLIDE: *Lesson 9: Inventory Turnover Rate*

- **SAY:** In this lesson, we will cover inventory turnover and how to apply the information to determine if a school is holding too much inventory. The financial goal is to control food and supply costs for the school nutrition program.
- ASK: Can someone tell me what inventory turnover is?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Inventory turnover is a measure of inventory efficiency. Specifically, it is the number of times inventory is utilized in a period.
- **ASK:** Why would you want to calculate inventory turnover in your school?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Calculating inventory turnover each month allows the manager and director a means to control food and supply investments. Inventory turnover rate provides an indication of a school nutrition (SN) program's ability to control inventory levels.
- ASK: How often should you calculate inventory turnover rate?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- FEEDBACK: Inventory turnover rate can be calculated monthly and annually.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Inventory Turnover Rate Calculations

**SAY:** Let's look at how to calculate monthly inventory turnover. The beginning purchased inventory is the same figure as the previous month's ending purchased inventory. The following formula is used to determine inventory turnover rate.

<u>Cost of Goods Sold</u> = <u>(Beginning Inventory + Purchases During Period) – Ending Inventory</u> Average Inventory Value (Beginning Inventory + Ending Inventory) / 2 Let's look at an example.

Beginning inventory	\$6,600
Purchases during the month	\$11,400
Ending inventory	\$5,400
Cost of food used during the month	\$12,600

Cost of Goods Sold	=	(\$6,600 + \$11,400) - \$5,400	=	<u>\$12,600</u>	=	2.1
Average Inventory Value		(\$6,600 + \$5,400) / 2		\$6,000		

The ending inventory of \$5,400 is the beginning inventory amount for the next month.

ASK: Can anyone tell me what the 2.1 represents?

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

**FEEDBACK:** The 2.1 represents the number of times the inventory turned over or was used and replenished in a period of time. A school that receives a weekly delivery for most products should have a turnover rate of once every 7-10 days or 2-3 times a month.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Inventory Turnover Rate

SAY: Take out the Calculating Inventory Turnover Rate worksheet.

**DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or need help. When everyone has completed the activity, go over the answers. Explain how to calculate the answers if someone does not understand.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Inventory Turnover Rate**

**Instructions:** Calculate inventory turnover rate using the information in the following chart. Then answer the question after you have completed the calculations. You will have about five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

### **Calculating Inventory Turnover Rate**

Step # 1: Determine the beginning inventory for the month of February\$ 8,496									
Month	End of Month Inventory Value	Value of Food Pu	rchases						
January	\$8,496	\$24,021							
February	\$7,144 \$18,677								
March	\$9,297	\$21,583							
Step # 2: Add the food purch	nases for the month of February.		\$ 18,677						
Equals food available in Feb	ruary		\$ 27,173						
Step # 3: Less ending February inventory									
Cost of Food Used in February									

ASK: What is the beginning inventory for the month of March? \$7,144

SAY: The information to calculate inventory turnover rate can be gathered from the:

- revenue and expenditure report (to show monthly purchases),
- point-of-sale inventory system, and
- inventory records from the beginning and end of a period.

Inventory turnover benchmarks or standards should be established for each school in a district. When inventory turnover rate is low (or high inventory levels), it presents a number of problems. It is difficult to keep track of what products are on hand, more storage space is required, money is tied up, and it is harder to control waste or pilferage than when inventory turnover rate is high (or inventory levels are low).

A school that receives a weekly delivery for most products should have a turnover rate of once every 7-10 days or 2-3 times a month.

There are many factors that influence inventory turnover rate some of which include:

- Forecasting,
- Inventory loss due to waste, theft, spoilage, and other product loss,
- Secure and safe storage practices reduce inventory loss and ensure shelf life is maximized,

- Frequency of deliveries,
- Storage space,
- Use and number of weeks of cycle menus,
- Minimizing menu substitutions,
- Large bids,
- Order procedures (centrally placed orders allow for review and revision),
- Meals and meal counts,
- Meal service interruptions where there is a loss of food service opportunity (i.e., snow days), and
- Non-compliance with regulations.
- **ASK:** Does anyone have any questions about inventory turnover rate, its importance, and how to calculate it?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

### Lesson 10: Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH)

**Objective:** Calculate Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH) and apply the information to measure the productivity and production efficiency of the school nutrition program.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 10: Meals Per Labor Hour

- **SAY:** This lesson is on Meals Per Labor Hour. We will cover calculating Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH) and how to apply the information in order to measure the productivity and production efficiency of the school nutrition program.
- ASK: Can someone tell me what Meals Per Labor Hour is?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH) is the measure of productivity and production efficiency for school nutrition (SN) programs.
- ASK: Why would you want to calculate MPLH in your school?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** MPLH can help determine how many employees or how many scheduled hours per employee are needed daily. The MPLH index is compared with labor because labor is dependent on the type of production. Examples of production systems used in the school nutrition program include conventional, cook-chill, and assembly-serve. Another type of production system used in the school nutrition program is distribution/service systems which includes satellite, on-site, and a combination of the two.

ASK: How often would you calculate Meals Per Labor Hour?

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

FEEDBACK: Meals Per Labor Hour can be calculated weekly, monthly, or annually.

SHOW SLIDE: Steps to Calculate MPLH

**SAY:** The MPLH index is calculated on the actual productive, paid labor hours assigned to a site-level school nutrition (SN) program.

MPLH can be determined for a school site by dividing the total meal equivalents for a given time period by the total number of productive paid labor hours for the same time period.

Planned productive labor hours include the amount of labor planned by an SN program, for managers/supervisors, kitchen staff, and cashiers. Paid hours for substitutes are included, but not paid hours for sick, personal, or holiday leave.

MPLH = <u>Number of Meals or Meal Equivalents</u> Number of Planned Productive Labor Hours

Calculating MPLH can be completed in three steps.

- Step 1: Calculate total MEQ for the period.
- Step 2: Calculate total hours of labor paid monthly, including all SN employees and managers/supervisors.
- Step 3: Divide the total MEQ by the total paid labor hours (excluding sick, personal, and holiday pay).

**DO:** Have the participants complete the activity worksheet, **Calculating Meals Per Labor Hour**.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Meals Per Labor Hour

- **SAY:** Let's complete an activity to see what you have learned. Look at the **Calculating Meals Per Labor Hour** worksheet. You are given a month of district information for a school nutrition program. Calculate the MPLH for the school nutrition program.
- **DO:** Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone who may have questions or need help. At the end of the five minutes, go over the answers. Ask for volunteers to give their answers if time allows. Explain how to calculate MPLH if someone does not understand.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Meals Per Labor Hour**

**Instructions:** Calculate and fill in the table below. When you have completed the calculation in the table, calculate MPLH using 8,465 MEQs. You have five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

### **Calculating Meals Per Labor Hour**

Number of Staff Members That Work the Same Number of Hours Daily	×	Hours Worked Daily	=	Total Hours Worked Daily	×	Days in the Period	=	Total Staff Hours Planned for the Period
1	×	7	=	7	×	21	=	147
3	×	6	=	18	×	21	=	378
2	×	4	=	8	×	21	=	168
6		17		33		21		693

ASK: What is the MPLH and how did you arrive at that number?

#### FEEDBACK: 8,465 ÷ 693 = 12.22 or 12 MPLH

SAY: After MPLH is calculated, you can make a decision regarding staffing. If the evaluation indicates an excess of labor hours and increasing participation is not an alternative, adjustments in labor hours may be necessary. Refer to the handout, Staffing Guidelines for On-Site Production. This handout can be used as a guide for staffing needs.

## **Staffing Guidelines for On-Site Production**

	Meals Per Labor Hour for Low and High Productivity									
Number of Meal Equivalents	Conventio MF	nal System PLH	Convenience System MPLH							
	Low	High	Low	High						
Up to 100	8	10	10	12						
101 – 150	9	11	11	13						
151 – 200	10-11	12	12	14						
201 – 250	12	14	14	15						
251 – 300	13	15	15	16						
301 – 400	14	16	16	18						
401 – 500	14	17	18	19						
501 – 600	15	17	18	19						
601 – 700	16	18	19	20						
701 – 800	17	19	20	22						
801 and up	18	20	21	23						

**Source:** Pannell-Martin, D. & Boettger, J. (2014). *School food & nutrition service management for the 21st century* (6th ed.). Aiken, South Carolina: Author.

- A conventional system is the preparation of some foods from raw ingredients on premises (e.g., using some baked goods, prepared pizza, and washing the dishes).
- A convenience system is using maximum amount of processed foods (e.g., using all baked goods, precooked chicken, ready-to-serve raw fruits and vegetables, portion-packed condiments, and washing only trays and using disposable dinnerware).

- **SAY:** Let's look at a method that can be used to determine the number of labor hours needed for the desired productivity level.
  - Decide the desired number of MPLH for the district for a month. This can also be calculated for each school site. Assume 14 MPLH is based on the type of meal service offered for the example calculation.
  - Divide the total MEQ by the desired number of MPLH to determine the total labor hours needed per month. Divide that number by the number of serving days in a month to determine the number of labor hours needed per day.

**Example:** <u>8,465 (Total MEQs)</u> = 604.64 or 605 (Total labor hours needed per month) 14 (Desired MPLH)

 $605 \div 21 = 28.81$  or 29 hours per day

- ASK: What would you need to do to achieve 14 desired MPLH?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Currently, the total hours worked daily is 33 hours. To achieve a desired 14 MPLH you would need to cut the daily hours worked to 29 hours.
- ASK: Does anyone have any questions before we continue?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **SAY:** The meal count data is captured electronically or manually at the point-of-sale system utilized by SN programs, and can be found in reports such as end-of-day sales reports, edit check worksheets, and/or deposit reports. Labor hours are captured in the school district time keeping system (time card data, timesheet logs, etc.) or payroll records that can be found at the school business office or the district human resources office.

Calculating MPLH can help determine how many employees or how many scheduled hours per employee are needed in a single production unit or throughout the district. The MPLH index most effectively compares labor utilization within a system because labor is dependent on the type of production systems (i.e., conventional, cook-chill, and assembly-serve) and distribution/service systems (satellite, on-site, and combination) used in a school nutrition program. The MPLH can be used to compare productivity between different school sites.

Explaining the importance of MPLH, how it is calculated, the variables that affect it, and how additional hours can be earned, is very motivating for managers. It allows them to better manage their own operations and gives them a level of control and understanding they might not otherwise have. Effective managers are able to explain staffing to their employees in clear and understandable terms and can encourage the entire team

to work towards a common goal of ensuring adequate meal participation to support adequate labor hours.

- **ASK:** Do you have any questions about Meals Per Labor Hour, its importance, and how to calculate it?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

### Lesson 11: Staff Turnover Rate

**Objective:** Calculate staff turnover rate to determine how often positions must be filled.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 11: Staff Turnover Rate

- **SAY:** In our next lesson, we will discuss staff turnover rate, where to find the information, why it is important in the school nutrition program, and how it is calculated.
- ASK: Can someone tell me what staff turnover rate is?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Staff turnover rate is the rate at which staff members leave employment, either voluntary or involuntary, and are replaced by new employees.
- ASK: Why would you want to calculate staff turnover in your school?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** The timing of recruiting efforts can affect a school nutrition (SN) program's ability to hire and train new employees to be ready for work when needed. It is extremely important to calculate this in areas with low unemployment rates. Hiring and training new employees is a costly process, and high turnover rates are indicative of internal problems, such as poor work environment, lack of opportunities for development and advancement, and poor supervision.

ASK: How often should you calculate staff turnover rate?

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

FEEDBACK: Staff turnover rate can be calculated monthly and annually.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Staff Turnover Rate Calculation

**SAY:** The information you need to calculate staff turnover rate will come from payroll records, school nutrition records, and the school district human resource department. Once you have gathered the information the calculation for staff turnover rate is as follows:

Staff Turnover Rate =The number of employees terminated during a periodThe number of employees at the end of the month× 100

For example:

A SN program had two employees terminated during a month (voluntary or otherwise). At the end of the month, the SN program has a total of 22 full-time and part-time employees. Therefore, the staff turnover rate for the SN program is as follows:

2 / 22 × 100 = 9.09 or 9.1%

ASK: Does anyone have any questions?

DO: Wait for participants to respond.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Staff Turnover Rate

- SAY: Let's do an activity to see how much you have learned. Take out the Calculating Staff Turnover Rate worksheet.
- **DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or need help. When everyone has completed the activity, go over the answers. Explain how to calculate the answers if someone does not understand.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Staff Turnover Rate**

**Instructions:** Calculate staff turnover rate using the information in the following chart. Then answer the question after you have completed the calculations. You will have about five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

## **Calculating Staff Turnover Rate**

Staff Turnover Rate for September									
School	Number of Employees Terminated During September	÷	Number of Employees	×	100	=	Staff Turnover Rate		
Elementary	2	÷	7	×	100	=	28.6%		
Middle	1	÷	6	×	100	=	16.7%		
High	0	÷	8	×	100	=	0.0%		
District Totals	3	÷	21	×	100	=	14.3%		

- **ASK:** If the SN director wanted to maintain a staff turnover rate of 10%, what if anything can be concluded from the rates in this activity?
- **FEEDBACK:** The turnover rate for the month at the elementary and middle school is high and the district totals are high. The director will need to determine why the employees left shortly after the beginning of the school year. There are several factors to consider. For example, problems with other employees, family problems, need to relocate, poor working conditions, poor supervision, etc. This is something the SN director will need to investigate.
- **SAY:** Staff turnover rate allows a SN director to determine how often positions must be filled, and at what times of the year. This allows directors to plan recruiting and new staff training activities in advance. Annual calculation of this key performance indicator (KPI) can help in determining supervisory management issues and potential areas for supervisory staff development. High turnover rates can be an indication of internal problems, for example, poor work environment, lack of opportunities for professional development and advancement, poor supervision, etc. An investigation of these areas should be initiated to determine and address the specific issues. It is difficult for management to keep trained employees when the staff turnover rate exceeds 10%. Factors that influence staff turnover rate include geographic location, population, labor pool, and state of the economy.

Employees often seek new employment for the following reasons:

- poor hiring practices,
- · lack of professional development opportunities,
- better opportunities elsewhere,

- poor treatment,
- inadequate pay,
- poor job satisfaction,
- poor morale,
- illness/family illness,
- relocation, and
- retirement.

Employee retention can be increased by:

- · careful hiring practices,
- providing routine training for all non-managerial employees,
- providing continuous training for managers to improve their supervisory skills,
- · providing development opportunities for all salaried employees, and
- seeking to understand and improve employee satisfaction through staff surveys, performance appraisals, and exit interviews.

ASK: Does anyone have any questions about staff turnover rate and how to calculate it?

**DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.

### Lesson 12: Absenteeism Rate

Objective: Calculate and analyze the time employees miss work in order to control labor cost.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Lesson 12: Absenteeism Rate

- **SAY:** In the last lesson, we will cover absenteeism rate, where to find the information for calculating and analyzing, why it is important in the school nutrition program, and how it is calculated.
- ASK: Can someone tell me what absenteeism rate is?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** Absenteeism rate is the rate at which employees miss work due to personal illness, personal business, or other reasons (excluding paid vacation). These absences may be avoidable or unavoidable. This rate includes paid and unpaid leave. Absenteeism rate is the percentage of hours missed versus hours scheduled over a specific period of time.
- ASK: Why would you want to calculate absenteeism rate in your school?
- **DO:** Wait for participants to respond.
- **FEEDBACK:** High absenteeism rates can increase labor costs and drain an organization's bottom line. As absenteeism rates increase, the following cost increases affect the school nutrition program:
  - increased labor costs associated with sick leave pay,
  - pay of replacement employees,
  - overtime pay, and
  - a reduction in production quality and productivity.

ASK: How often should you calculate absenteeism rate?

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

**FEEDBACK:** Absenteeism rate can be calculated monthly and annually.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Absenteeism Rate Calculation

**SAY:** The information to calculate absenteeism rate can be found on the staff schedules, time sheets, attendance records, payroll reports, or other human resource documentation that is available.

The formula for absenteeism rate is as follows:

Absenteeism Rate =

<u>The number of lost hours in a month (absences other than paid vacation)</u> The total hours planned for the month (hours that would have been worked × 100 if there were no absences other than vacations)

#### An example:

In the month of October, a school district had the following:

- 83 lost hours due to absences other than paid vacation
- 2,772 total hours planned

The absenteeism rate for the month of October was calculated as follows:

ASK: Does anyone have any questions?

**DO:** Wait for participants to respond.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Activity: Calculating Absenteeism Rate

- SAY: Let's do an activity to see how much you have learned. Take out the Calculating Absenteeism Rate worksheet.
- **DO:** Read the instructions. Give participants about five (5) minutes to complete the activity. Walk around to help anyone that may have questions or need help. When everyone has completed the activity, go over the answers. Explain how to calculate the answers if someone does not understand.

### **ACTIVITY: Calculating Absenteeism Rate**

**Instructions:** Calculate absenteeism rate using the information in the following chart. Then answer the question after you have completed the calculations. You will have about five (5) minutes to complete the activity.

Absenteeism Turnover Rate for September									
School	Number of Lost Hours Due to Absences Other Than Paid Vacation	÷	Total Planned Hours	×	100	=	Absenteeism Rate		
Elementary	20	÷	693	×	100	=	2.9%		
Middle	15	÷	798	×	100	=	1.9%		
High	30	÷	693	×	100	=	4.3%		
District Totals	65	÷	2184	×	100	=	3.0%		

## Calculating Absenteeism Rate

- **ASK:** If the SN director wanted to maintain a ≤ 2.9% rate at each school, what would be your conclusion about this school district?
- **FEEDBACK:** The elementary school manager needs to watch the number of hours her staff misses. They are at the top of the district rate. The middle school is fine. The high school absenteeism rate is much higher than the district rate. The manager needs to pay close attention to the number of hours her staff misses, or the director may need to investigate the happenings at the high school. Each month will be different. If a school has an employee that calls in all the time and there is a pattern, the manager may need to talk with that employee.
- **SAY:** The data may be broken down by week, month, quarter, year, school/site, or district. Data from this calculation can be observed over time to determine trends, and to improve management decisions that affect absenteeism.

There is not an industry standard for absenteeism rate. However, the United States absenteeism rate for full-time wage and salary workers for 2017 (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2018) was  $\leq$  2.9%.

There are several factors that can influence absenteeism rate. The following are a few of these factors:

- Employee/family illness,
- District employee benefit plan,
- Absenteeism policy and procedures,
- Staff morale/satisfaction,
- · Quality of available workforce/recruiter hiring practices, and
- Site manager skill/management style.

- ASK: Does anyone have any questions about absenteeism rate and how to calculate it?
- **DO:** Answer questions to the best of your ability. If there are questions you cannot answer, tell the participants you will find out the answer and get back with them.
- **SAY:** Let's take a 10-minute break before starting the case study.
- **DO:** After the 10-minute break, begin the case study. Participants will have 30 minutes to complete the activity and 15 minutes to go over the answers.
- **SAY:** In this case study, you are given background information and information that reflects the activities we have covered. You will complete the activity using all of the information you have learned today. Look in your workbook at the **ABC School District Case Study**. The case study will include all of the worksheets you will need to complete the activity. You will have 30 minutes to complete the case study. You may work together on this activity. Some of the case study has been completed for you.
- **DO:** Walk around the room to help anyone that needs help or answer any questions.

When everyone has completed the case study, go over the correct answers. After you have gone over the correct answers, tell the participants the answer key is in the Appendices.

#### SHOW SLIDE: <u>Activity: ABC School District Case Study</u>

### **ABC School District Case Study**

You are the new school nutrition (SN) director at ABC School District. It is the first of October, and you want to analyze the performance of the three schools in the district to catch any problems the schools may have and take corrective action. The analysis will allow you to compare the results from each school and compare the results to industry standards, when available. Once you have completed the case study, you can use the results of these calculations to develop goals for the SN program.

#### Tips for completing the case study

- When rounding, be consistent, if the number is less (<) than five, round down. If the number is greater than or equal to (≥) five, round up.
- Be sure you understand the calculations before moving on to the next section.
- When you have an operation within parentheses, do that calculation first. Then complete the remaining calculation.

The background information begins on the next page.

## Case Study Background Information

Period	September
Days in the Period	21
Days in the School Year	180
School Nutrition Management Type	Self-operated
Number of Schools in the District	3 (1 Elementary School, 1 Middle School, and 1 High School)
District Student Enrollment	1300
Average Daily Attendance: Elementary School Middle School High School	425 475 400
Students Approved for Free/Reduced Price Meals	43%
Meal Service Description	Traditional cafeteria service at breakfast and lunch
Menu Planning	1-month cycle menus, the same for all schools
Food Preparation	Combination convenience and scratch, food prep at each school
Meal Prices	Lunch \$3.20, Breakfast \$1.75 (for all three schools)
School Nutrition Staffing Elementary School	1 manager at 8 hours daily and 5 kitchen staff at 5 hours daily = 25 hours 1 manager at 8 hours daily and 6 kitchen
Middle School	staff at 5 hours daily = 30 hours 1 manager at 8 hours daily and 5 kitchen staff at 5 hours daily = 25 hours
	Storage at each school where products are
Storage – Food and Supplies	received from vendors
Inventory for September	Beginning \$ 7,500
	Beginning \$10,500
Middle School	Ending \$10,000
High School	Ending \$10,500

### **Meal Counts and Participation**

The first KPI you will look at are the meal equivalents (MEQs) for each school. Look at the worksheet below and determine the appropriate conversion factor and calculate the MEQs for each school. If you need help with the conversion factor, review Lesson 1.

Meal Equivalents (MEQ) for Each School								
Meal Category	Total Meals Served & Nonprogram Sales		Conversion Factor		Total MEQ			
	Elementary Se	choo	ol					
Student Lunch	5,343	×	1	=	5,343			
Adult Lunch	312	×	1	=	312			
Student Breakfast	3,015	×	.67	=	2,020			
Snacks	2,231	×	.33	=	736			
Nonprogram Food Sales	\$900	÷	\$3.33 + .2350 (3.565)	=	252			
Total MEQs – Elementary Sc	chool				8,663			
Middle School								
Student Lunch	5,224	×	1	=	5,224			
Adult Lunch	250	×	1	=	250			
Student Breakfast	2,304	×	.67	=	1,544			
Snacks	2,429	×	.33	=	802			
Nonprogram Food Sales	\$3,987	÷	\$3.33 + .2350 (3.565)	=	1,118			
Total MEQs – Middle School					8,938			
	High Scho	ol						
Student Lunch	4,046	×	1	=	4,046			
Adult Lunch	435	×	1	=	435			
Student Breakfast	924	×	.67	=	619			
Snacks	0	×	.33	=	0			
Nonprogram Food Sales	\$8,000	÷	\$3.33 + .2350 (3.565)	=	2,244			
Total MEQs – High School					7,344			
Total MEQ - District					24,945			

Reimbursement Rate of \$3.33 and USDA Foods Value of \$0.235 effective beginning July 1, 2018. Reimbursement rates should be updated annually.

USDA Reimbursement Rates and USDA Foods Value can be found on the USDA Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) Website at the following links: www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/ rates-reimbursement and www.fns.usda.gov/fdd/value-donated-foods-notices respectfully. Some states such as Kansas choose to receive cash in lieu of USDA Foods. If you are one of the states that receive the cash, contact your State agency to determine what figure to use.

What is the total MEQs for the Elementary School? **8,863** 

What is the total MEQs for the Middle School? **8,938** 

What is the total MEQs for the High School? \_7,344

You have completed the MEQ calculations. Now, you want to calculate the average daily participation (ADP) and the ADP Rate. Use the following worksheets to calculate the ADP and ADP Rate for each school, then compare them to the industry standards.

Average Daily Participation (ADP) for Each School										
Schools	Meal Served	Number of Meals Served	÷	Number of Serving Days	=	ADP				
Elementary	Breakfast	3,015	÷	21	=	144				
	Lunch	5,343	÷	21	=	254				
Middlo	Breakfast	2,304	÷	21	=	109				
IMIQUIE	Lunch	5,224	÷	21	=	249				
	Breakfast	924	÷	21	=	44				
	Lunch	4,046	÷	21	=	193				

Average Daily Participation (ADP) Rate for Each School									
Schools	Meal Served	ADP	÷	Average Daily Attendance	=	ADP Rate	Industry Standard		
Elementary	Breakfast	144	÷	425	=	34%	35%		
	Lunch	254	÷	425	=	60%	75%		
Middlo	Breakfast	109	÷	475	=	23%	35%		
IVIIGUIE	Lunch	249	÷	475	=	52%	75%		
High	Breakfast	44	÷	400	=	11%	25%		
	Lunch	193	÷	400	=	48%	65%		

How does the Elementary School ADP Rate compare to the industry standard? The elementary school ADP Rate for breakfast is almost the same as the industry standard. For lunch it is below industry standards.

How does the Middle School ADP Rate compare to the industry standard? The middle school ADP Rate for breakfast and lunch is below industry standards.

How does the High School ADP Rate compare to the industry standard? The high school ADP Rate for both breakfast and lunch are below industry standards.

## **Financial and Inventory Management**

The district business office has sent you the Statement of Activities Report (also known as an Income Statement) that you requested. This report will show you how each school is performing financially.

Statement of Activities (Revenues and Expenditures) for Each School								
Revenue Source	Elementary School	Middle School	High School	District Totals				
Student Meal Sales	\$15,300	\$16,700	\$8,300	\$40,300				
Adult Meal Sales	1,000	800	700	2,500				
Other Food Sales	900	4,400	8,000	13,300				
Contract Meals	400	400	400	1,200				
Interest	100	100	100	300				
State Sources	1,000	2,000	1,000	4,000				
Federal Sources (Includes USDA Food Value)	21,600	15,200	11,900	48,700				
Total Revenue	\$40,300	\$39,600	\$30,400	\$110,300				
Expenditures	Elementary	Middle	High	District				
	School	School	School	Totals				
Salaries and Wages	<b>School</b> \$6,800	<b>School</b> \$7,800	<b>School</b> \$6,800	<b>Totals</b> \$21,400				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits	School \$6,800 7,000	<b>School</b> \$7,800 7,500	<b>School</b> \$6,800 7,000	<b>Totals</b> \$21,400 21,500				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services	School \$6,800 7,000 200	<b>School</b> \$7,800 7,500 200	School \$6,800 7,000 200	Totals   \$21,400   21,500   600				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services	School \$6,800 7,000 200 300	School \$7,800 7,500 200 300	School \$6,800 7,000 200 300	Totals   \$21,400   21,500   600   900				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods	School \$6,800 7,000 200 300 17,400	School \$7,800 7,500 200 300 18,800	School \$6,800 7,000 200 300 14,600	Totals   \$21,400   21,500   600   900   50,800				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies	School \$6,800 7,000 200 300 17,400 1,800	School \$7,800 7,500 200 300 18,800 2,000	School \$6,800 7,000 200 300 14,600 2,500	Totals   \$21,400   21,500   600   900   50,800   6,300				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies Miscellaneous	School \$6,800 7,000 200 300 17,400 1,800 300	School \$7,800 7,500 200 300 18,800 2,000 400	School \$6,800 7,000 200 300 14,600 2,500 400	Totals   \$21,400   21,500   600   900   50,800   6,300   1,100				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies Miscellaneous Capital Assets	School   \$6,800   7,000   200   300   17,400   1,800   300	School \$7,800 7,500 200 300 18,800 2,000 400 0.00	School   \$6,800   7,000   200   300   14,600   2,500   400   0.00	Totals   \$21,400   21,500   600   900   50,800   6,300   1,100   0.00				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies Miscellaneous Capital Assets Indirect Costs	School   \$6,800   7,000   200   300   17,400   1,800   300   0.00   600	School \$7,800 7,500 200 300 18,800 2,000 400 0.00 1,000	School   \$6,800   7,000   200   300   14,600   2,500   400   0.00   1,200	Totals   \$21,400   21,500   600   900   50,800   6,300   1,100   0.00   2,800				
Salaries and Wages Employee Benefits Purchased Services Property Services Purchased Food/USDA Foods Supplies Miscellaneous Capital Assets Indirect Costs Total Expenditures	School   \$6,800   7,000   200   300   17,400   1,800   300   0.00   600   \$34,400	School   \$7,800   7,500   200   300   18,800   2,000   400   0.00   1,000   \$38,000	School   \$6,800   7,000   200   300   14,600   2,500   400   0.00   1,200   \$33,000	Totals   \$21,400   21,500   600   900   50,800   6,300   1,100   2,800   \$105,400				

Based on the Statement of Activities Report, what do you observe about the financial stability of each of the schools? The elementary and middle schools have a net excess, but the high school is losing money.

Looking at the Statement of Activities, calculate the revenue per MEQ and cost per MEQ to determine how much plate cost is for each school. Remember, to calculate revenue per MEQ divide revenue by total MEQ, and to calculate cost per MEQ divide expenditures by total MEQ. Use the following worksheets for your calculations.

MEQ: Elementary 8,863

Middle 8,938 High 7,344

Revenue Per Meal Equivalent (MEQ) for Each School						
Revenue Source	High School					
Student Meal Sales	\$1.73	\$1.88	\$1.13			
Adult Meal Sales	.11	.09	.10			
Other Food Sales	.10	.49	1.09			
Contract Meals	.05	.04	.05			
Interest	.01	.01	.01			
State Sources	.11	.22	.14			
Federal Sources (Includes USDA						
Foods Value)	2.44	1.70	1.62			
Total Revenue Per MEQ	\$4.55	\$4.43	\$4.14			

#### MEQ: Elementary 8,863 Middle 8,938 High 7,344

Cost Per Meal Equivalent (MEQ) for Each School						
Expenditures	Elementary School	Middle School	High School			
Salaries and Wages	\$.77	\$.87	\$.93			
Employee Benefits	.79	.84	.95			
Purchased Services	.02	.02	.03			
Property Services	.03	.03	.04			
Purchased Food/USDA Foods	1.96	2.10	1.99			
Supplies	.20	.22	.34			
Miscellaneous	.03	.04	.05			
Capital Assets	.00	.00	.00			
Indirect Costs	.07	.11	.16			
Total Cost Per MEQ	\$3.87	\$4.23	\$4.49			

Looking at the totals in the worksheets you just completed, compare the revenue per MEQ to the Cost per MEQ for the three schools.

What do you conclude about the cost of a meal at the Elementary School? **The elementary school is making \$0.68 per MEQ.** 

What do you conclude about the cost of a meal at the Middle School? **The middle school is making \$0.20 per MEQ**.

What do you conclude about the cost of a meal at the High School? **The high school is losing \$0.35 per MEQ.** 

You learned that salaries and wages should be no more 40% of revenues. The same holds true for food costs. Based on the figures in the worksheets you just completed, look at the cost as a percentage of revenue. Complete the next worksheets and compare the figures for each school.

Cost as a Percentage of Revenue for Each Expense Category for Each School								
Expenditures Elementary Middle H								
Salaries and Wages	16.9%	19.7%	22.4%					
Employee Benefits	17.4%	18.9%	23.0%					
Purchased Services	.5%	.5%	.7%					
Property Services	.7%	.8%	1.0%					
Purchased Food/USDA Foods	43.2%	47.5%	48.0%					
Supplies	4.5%	5.1%	8.2%					
Miscellaneous	.7%	1.0%	1.3%					
Capital Assets	0	0	0					
Indirect Costs	1.5%	2.5%	3.9%					
Total Expenditures	85.4%	96%	108.5%					

What have you learned about the cost as a percentage of revenue for each school? The elementary and middle schools cost percentage is below the revenue or they are making money. The high school cost percentage is over 100%. Therefore, they are losing money.

Are there changes that can be made? If so, where do the changes need to be made? The high school needs to use the food they have in inventory; and as personnel leave, do not rehire to get the salaries and wages and benefits down to around 40%. The next KPI you want to calculate is the break-even point (BEP) for each school. In the following worksheets, calculate break-even point for each school. The numbers you need for these calculations will come from the Statement of Activities. (Remember to calculate the figures in the parentheses first and carry the decimal out 4 places.) The following formula is used to calculate BEP:

Fixed Costs	=	Fixed Costs	=	Fixed Costs
Contribution Margin (%)		1 – (Variable Cost / Revenue)		1 – Variable Costs %

Break-Even Point for Elementary School						
Categories	Revenues	Fixed Costs	Variable Costs			
Total Revenue	\$40,300					
Expenditures						
Salaries and Wages		\$6,800				
Employee Benefits		7,000				
Purchased Services			\$200			
Property Services			300			
Purchased Food/USDA Foods			17,400			
Supplies			1,800			
Miscellaneous			300			
Capital Assets						
Indirect Costs			600			
Totals	\$40,300	\$13,800	\$20,600			

Break-Even Point for Middle School							
Categories	Revenues	Fixed Costs	Variable Costs				
Total Revenue	\$39,600						
Expenditures							
Salaries and Wages		\$7,800					
Employee Benefits		7,500					
Purchased Services			\$200				
Property Services			300				
Purchased Food/USDA Foods			18,800				
Supplies			2,000				
Miscellaneous			400				
Capital Assets							
Indirect Costs			1,000				
Totals	\$39,600	\$15,300	\$22,700				

Break-Even Point for High School							
Categories	Revenues	Fixed Costs	Variable Costs				
Total Revenue	\$30,400						
Expenditures							
Salaries and Wages		\$6,800					
Employee Benefits		7,000					
Purchased Services			\$200				
Property Services			300				
Purchased Food/USDA Foods			14,600				
Supplies			2,500				
Miscellaneous			400				
Capital Assets							
Indirect Costs			1,200				
Totals	\$30,400	\$13,800	\$19,200				

What is the break-even point for the Elementary School? <u>\$28,227</u> What is the break-even point for the Middle School? <u>\$35,848</u> What is the break-even point for the High School? <u>\$37,459</u> Are all of the schools breaking even? If not, which one(s) are not breaking even? No. The high school is not breaking even. It lost \$7,058 during the current month.

Next, you want to look at each school's inventory. You can learn much from the inventory on hand and the inventory rate. When inventory levels are high (the turnover rate is low), it is difficult to keep track of what products you have on hand, more storage space is required, money is tied up, and it is harder to control waste or pilferage. The first thing you want to do is determine the cost of goods sold; then, calculate the inventory turnover rate for each school. Using the following worksheets, calculate the cost of goods sold and the inventory turnover rate.

Cost of Goods Sold for Each School							
Schools	=	Inventory Available During the Month					
Elementary	\$7,500	+	\$17,400	=	\$24,900		
Middle	10,500	+	18,800	=	29,300		
High	10,500	+	14,600	=	25,100		
District Totals	\$28,500	+	\$50,800	=	\$79,300		

Cost of Goods Sold for Each School (cont.)						
Schools	=	Cost of Goods Sold				
Elementary	\$24,900	-	\$8,000	=	\$16,900	
Middle	29,300	-	10,000	=	19,300	
High	25,100	-	11,000	=	14,100	
District Totals	\$79,300	-	\$29,000	=	\$50,300	

Inventory Turnover Rate for Each School						
SchoolsCost of Goods Sold+Average Inventory Value=Inventory Turnover Rate						
Elementary	\$16,900	÷	\$7,750	=	2.18	
Middle	\$19,300	÷	\$10,250	=	1.88	
High	\$14,100	÷	\$10,750	=	1.31	

Based on the industry standards for inventory turnover rate of 2-3 times per month, what do you conclude from each of the school's calculations?

Possible answer: The middle and high schools could be over ordering and not using the food they have. When inventory ratios are low, it indicates that the school is carrying too much inventory. This could indicate poor inventory management.

### **Productivity and Labor**

The next KPIs you want to look at are productivity and labor. Calculating the planned production hours, Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH), and desired labor hours needed to produce meals can give you a great deal of information about each school. The following worksheet will guide you through these calculations.

Planned Productive Hours for Each School								
Schools	# of Staff That Work the Same # of Hours Daily	×	Hours Worked Daily	×	Days in a Period	=	Total Hours for the Period	Absenteeism Rate
Elementary	1	×	8	×	21	=	168	693
	5	×	5	×	21	=	525	
Middle	1	×	8	×	21	=	168	798
	6	×	5	×	21	=	630	100
High	1	×	8	×	21	=	168	693
	5	×	5	×	21	=	525	

After determining the planned productive hours for each school, you need to calculate MPLH. Complete the following worksheet.

Meals Per Labor Hour (MPLH) for Each School											
Schools	MEQ		Planned Productive Hours	=	Meals Per Labor Hour						
Elementary	8,863	÷	693	=	12.8						
Middle	8,938	÷	798	=	11.2						
High	7,344	÷	693	=	10.6						

Based on the staffing guidelines for onsite preparation discussed in Lesson 10, how do these productivity numbers look? Are you satisfied with the production of each school, or do you think they could do better?

Possible answer: The answer will depend on

- if offer vs. serve is offered,
- how many different entrees are offered,
- if á la carte food items are sold,
- if most of the food items are self-serve

# The numbers could be higher especially at the high school depending on the number of students available to eat at school.

You have decided that you want each school to achieve a goal of 14 MPLH. To determine the number of labor hours needed to meet this goal, you will need to use the following formulas to determine the number of labor hours needed daily:

<u>Total MEQs</u> = Total labor hours needed per month Desired MPLH

<u>Total labor hours needed per month</u> = # of labor hours needed daily # of serving days

Complete the following worksheet to determine the number of labor hours needed daily for each school.

Total Labor Hours Needed to Achieve Desired MPLH												
Schools	MEQs	÷	Desired MPLH	=	Total Labor Hours Needed Per Month	÷	# of Serving Days in the Period	I	Total Labor Hours Needed Daily			
Elementary	8,863	÷	14	=	633	÷	21	=	30			
Middle	8,938	÷	14	=	638	÷	21	=	30			
High	7,344	÷	14	=	525	÷	21	=	25			

What can calculating the total number of hours needed daily tell you?

The elementary school is working 33 hours per day.

The middle school is working 38 hours per day.

The high school is working 33 hours per day.

To produce 14 MPLH, work hours will need to be cut at each school.
The last two KPIs you want to determine are staff turnover rate and absenteeism rate. In the next worksheet, you will calculate the staff turnover rate for each school and the district totals.

Staff Turnover Rate for Each School							
Schools	# of Employees Terminated During the Period	÷	Number of Employees	×	100	=	Staff Turnover Rate
Elementary	1	÷	6	×	100	=	17%
Middle	0	÷	7	×	100	=	0%
High	2	÷	6	×	100	=	33%
District Totals	3	÷	19	×	100	=	16%

The final KPI you need to calculate before you can do an overall assessment is the absenteeism rate. In the next worksheet, calculate the absenteeism rate for each school and the district totals.

Absenteeism Rate for Each School							
Schools	# of Lost Hours Due to Absences Other Than Paid Leave	÷	Total Planned Employees	×	100	=	Absenteeism Rate
Elementary	20	÷	693	×	100	=	2.9%
Middle	15	÷	798	×	100	=	1.9%
High	30	÷	693	×	100	=	4.3%
District Totals	65	÷	2,184	×	100	=	3.0%

Based on the industry standard of  $\leq 2.9\%$ 

- How does the elementary school compare? They are equal to the standard good
- How does the middle school compare? They are below the standard good
- How does the high school compare? They are above the standard not good

As a district, they are just above the industry standard.

- SAY: Now that you have completed the case study, you will need to develop some goals to make your school nutrition program better and make an action plan based on those goals. Look at the handout, **Developing Goals Based on the Key Performance Indicators**.
- DO: Review the handout.
- **SAY:** You have the tools to evaluate your school or the schools in your district. Using the SMART Goals worksheet, set some goals for your school/district. Start with small achievable goals. The goals can be short-term, 3-4 months, or long-term, within the school year.

Talk with your staff about the goals you have set and goals they would like to see the team achieve. You will need their help to accomplish the goals. Use the **SMART Goals and Action Plan Templates** to assign tasks, measure the success, and set due dates and completion dates. Post your plan where everyone can see as progress is made.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Developing SMART Goals

### **Developing SMART Goals and an Action Plan**

You have completed all of the KPI calculations and have interpreted the data for each school. The next steps are to propose action plans and communicate the findings to the people it will affect. Encourage these people to talk about and ask questions that will help them to understand why the actions you plan to take are necessary.

- Prioritize the results, and weigh the relative merit of possible solutions. School nutrition (SN) programs must continue to look for new answers to old problems.
- Develop improvement goals that are "SMART" (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, and Time-bound).
  - Specific Goals should be simplistically written and clearly define what you are going to do.
  - Measurable Goals can be quantified to a determined amount of a specified unit; indicator of progress.
  - Achievable Goals state what results can realistically be achieved, given available resources but may stretch the team.
  - Relevant Goals must be ones that you are willing and able to work on and must be based on current or forecasted needs.
  - Time-bound Goals should be linked to a time frame that creates a practical sense of urgency.
- When creating an action plan, consider the following steps:
  - Outline the actions or steps that need to occur.
  - Identify the person(s) who will be responsible for implementing the steps.
  - List indicators of completion or progress.
  - Set a target date for achieving each step.
  - Specify the resources that will be required, such as staff, money, or materials.
- Another approach to formulating action plans is to focus on these questions:
  - What does the data tell us?
  - What does it not tell us?
  - What else would we need to know?
  - What are we doing well?
  - What needs for the SN program improvement might arise from this data?
  - SMART goals and an action plan template can be found on the next page.
- Once the decision to act has been made and implemented, new data can be collected to assess the effectiveness of those actions, leading to a continuous cycle of collection, organization, and synthesis of data in support of decision making.

## Developing Goals Based on the Key Performance Indicators

Based on the key performance indicators, list five goals you want to achieve by the end of the month and/or year. An example has been created for you.

# Goal: <u>By the end of the school year, we will increase breakfast participation at the high</u> <u>school by 20%</u>.

Goal 1:	 	
Goal 2:	 	 
Goal 3:	 	 
Goal 4 <sup>.</sup>		
	 ·····	 
Goal 5:		

### **SMART Goals and Action Plan Templates**

Does the Goal Meet the Following Criteria?			SMART Goal
	Yes	No	
Specific			
Measurable			
Achievable			
Realistic			
Time-bound			

### **Action Plan**

Plan steps you will take to achieve the goal.	Person Responsible	Measure of Success	Target Date	Date Complete
1.				
2.				
3.				
4.				

Resources Needed to Achieve the Goal:

### Wrap-Up

#### SHOW SLIDE: KPI Interactive Spreadsheets

- **DO:** If Internet is available, introduce the KPI Interactive Spreadsheets. Pull up the link https:// theicn.org/icn-resources-a-z/essential-kpis and click on the *Essential KPIs Interactive Spreadsheet*. Spend about 5 minutes highlighting the spreadsheets.
- **SAY:** Now that you have an understanding of the KPIs, ICN has developed some interactive spreadsheets that will help with the calculations. To use the spreadsheets, you will need to save the spreadsheet workbook to your hard drive. You might want to save a spreadsheet workbook for each school to determine how each school is performing.

The Excel workbook begins with a Table of Contents with a link to each spreadsheet. This will allow you to go to whichever spreadsheet you want without going through each one. Each spreadsheet has information about the spreadsheet and instructions on how to complete.

**Instructor's Note:** If time allows, enter some of the numbers from the case study to demonstrate how the spreadsheets work.

#### SHOW SLIDE: Post-Assessment

- **DO:** Allow 10 minutes for participants to take the **Post-Assessment**. Collect all of the assessments before giving the correct answers. Make sure participants have put their identifying symbol on top of the page for comparison of learning. Once they have completed the post-assessment, collect them and go over the answer key with the participants.
- **SAY:** Now it is time to see how much you have learned. You will find the Post-Assessment on your tables. Make sure you put the same identifier on the top of the page as you did for the pre-assessment. Complete the post-assessment and lay it to one side of the table when you are finished. (Instructor may choose a different way to collect the assessments.) When everyone is finished, we will go over the correct answers. Before you leave today, you may pick up a copy of the Pre-/Post-Assessment Answer Key to take with you.

Thank you for attending today's training. The Institute of Child Nutrition partners with USDA's Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) to develop and support training events like the session today. We would like your feedback on this training program.

**DO:** As you pick up the post-assessment, distribute training evaluation form. Make sure all participants have signed the Attendee Roster(s).

**SAY:** I have a Certificate of Completion for each of you for completing *Essential Key Performance Indicators for School Nutrition Success* training. Keep this record in your files.

Congratulations, and thank you for participating today! I hope you will keep learning.

#### SHOW SLIDE: ICN on Social Media

**DO:** Provide attendees a Certificate of Completion.

### References

- Institute of Child Nutrition, Applied Research Division. (2018). *Essential KPIs for school nutrition success*. University of Southern Mississippi: Author.
- Institute of Child Nutrition. (2017). *Financial management: A course for school nutrition directors.* University of Mississippi: Author.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture Food and Nutrition Service. (2018). *National school lunch program rates of reimbursement.* Retrieved from https://www.fns.usda.gov/ school-meals/rates-reimbursement
- U.S. Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018). *4.2 million workers have illness-related work absences in January 2018.* Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2018/4-point-2-million-workers-have-illness-related-work-absences-in-january-2018.htm



The University of Mississippi School of Applied Sciences 800-321-3054 www.theicn.org